World Watch Research

Afghanistan: Full Country Dossier

January 2024



Open Doors International / World Watch Research

January 2024

© Open Doors International

research@od.org



(c) Alamy

Contents

Introduction3
World Watch List 2024
Copyright note
Sources and definitions
WWL 2024 Situation in brief / Afghanistan5
Brief country details
Map of country
Dominant persecution engines and drivers6
Brief description of the persecution situation6
Summary of international obligations and rights violations
Specific examples of violations of rights in the reporting period
Specific examples of positive developments7
External Links - Situation in brief7
WWL 2024: Keys to understanding / Afghanistan8
Links for general background information8
Recent history
Political and legal landscape9
Religious landscape11
Economic landscape
Social and cultural landscape15
Technological landscape18
Security situation

Trends analysis	22
External Links - Keys to understanding	25
WWL 2024: Church information / Afghanistan	30
Christian origins	30
Church spectrum today	
Areas where Christians face most difficulties	
Christian communities and how they are affected	
External Links - Church information	
WWL 2024: Persecution Dynamics / Afghanistan	31
Reporting period	31
Position on the World Watch List	31
Persecution engines	32
Drivers of persecution	34
The Persecution pattern	
Pressure in the 5 spheres of life	
Violence	
5 Year trends	45
Gender-specific religious persecution / Female	
Gender-specific religious persecution / Male	49
Persecution of other religious minorities	49
Future outlook	51
External Links - Persecution Dynamics	52
Further useful reports	53

Introduction

World Watch List 2024

Rank	Country	Private life	Family life	Community life	National life	Church life	Violence	Total Score WWL	Total Score WWL	Total Score WWL	Total Score WWL	Total Score WWL
								2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
1	North Korea	16.7	16.7	16.7	16.7	16.7	12.8	96	98	96	94	94
2	Somalia	16.5	16.7	16.6	16.6	16.6	10.6	93	92	91	92	92
3	Libya	15.9	16.0	15.9	16.1	16.4	10.2	91	88	91	92	90
4	Eritrea	14.6	14.9	15.5	15.9	15.7	12.8	89	89	88	88	87
5	Yemen	16.7	16.7	16.7	16.7	16.7	5.9	89	89	88	87	85
6	Nigeria	13.5	13.9	14.5	14.9	14.4	16.7	88	88	87	85	80
7	Pakistan	13.2	13.9	15.0	15.1	13.1	16.7	87	86	87	88	88
8	Sudan	14.1	14.2	14.9	14.9	15.5	13.3	87	83	79	79	85
9	Iran	15.0	14.6	13.5	15.8	16.5	10.9	86	86	85	86	85
10	Afghanistan	15.7	15.9	15.2	16.3	16.6	4.6	84	84	98	94	93
11	India	12.2	12.6	13.3	14.8	13.2	16.5	83	82	82	83	83
12	Syria	13.4	14.3	13.9	14.3	14.2	11.1	81	80	78	81	82
13	Saudi Arabia	15.2	15.3	14.8	15.7	16.6	3.3	81	80	81	78	79
14	Mali	11.1	10.1	14.7	12.8	15.1	15.6	79	76	70	67	66
15	Algeria	14.4	14.1	11.5	14.0	15.6	9.8	79	73	71	70	73
16	Iraq	14.2	14.4	14.0	14.8	13.9	7.8	79	76	78	82	76
10	Myanmar	12.2	10.6	13.4	13.7	13.0	16.1	79	80	70	74	73
18	Maldives	15.6	15.5	13.4	16.0	16.4	0.9	78	77	77	77	78
19	China	13.0	10.0	12.8	14.6	16.0	11.1	78	77	76	74	70
20	Burkina Faso	11.7	9.7	13.2	14.0	13.8	15.6	75	71	68	67	66
20	Laos	11.7	10.6	13.2	14.3	13.8	13.0	75	68	69	71	72
21	Cuba	13.2	8.7	13.8	14.5	14.0	8.7	73	70	66	62	52
22	Mauritania	13.2	14.2	13.8	13.3	14.2	1.3	72	72	70	71	68
									69		67	
24	Morocco	13.2	13.8	11.7	12.8	14.4	5.4	71		69		66
25	Uzbekistan	14.6	12.7	13.9	12.6	15.5	1.7	71	71	71	71	73
26	Bangladesh	12.4	10.6	12.5	10.8	10.4	14.1	71	69	68	67	63
27	Niger	9.4	9.6	14.5	7.7	13.1	15.9	70	70	68	62	60
28	CAR	10.3	8.6	13.9	9.6	12.2	15.6	70	70	68	66	68
29	Turkmenistan	14.2	12.3	13.6	13.9	15.5	0.6	70	70	69	70	70
30	Nicaragua	12.1	7.6	13.2	13.2	14.1	9.6	70	65	56	51	41
31	Oman	14.3	14.0	10.6	13.3	14.0	3.1	69	65	66	63	62
32	Ethiopia	9.9	9.7	12.6	10.4	12.1	14.4	69	66	66	65	63
33	Tunisia	12.3	13.2	10.2	12.4	13.8	6.9	69	67	66	67	64
34	Colombia	11.1	8.6	12.9	11.3	10.4	14.1	68	71	68	67	62
35	Vietnam	11.3	9.4	12.4	13.8	14.2	7.2	68	70	71	72	72
36	Bhutan	13.1	12.1	12.4	14.1	14.3	2.2	68	66	67	64	61
37	Mexico	11.5	8.5	12.5	11.1	10.6	14.1	68	67	65	64	60
38	Egypt	12.5	13.7	11.4	11.9	10.9	7.8	68	68	71	75	76
39	Mozambique	9.3	8.5	13.9	8.4	12.5	15.0	68	68	65	63	43
40	Qatar	14.2	14.2	10.5	13.2	14.4	0.6	67	68	74	67	66
41	DRC	8.0	7.9	12.6	9.7	13.0	15.9	67	67	66	64	56
42	Indonesia	10.9	12.3	11.5	10.2	9.7	11.5	66	68	68	63	60
43	Cameroon	8.8	7.6	12.6	8.0	13.1	15.9	66	65	65	64	60
44	Brunei	15.0	14.7	10.0	10.8	14.1	1.3	66	65	64	64	63
45	Comoros	12.7	14.0	11.2	12.4	14.2	1.1	66	66	63	62	57
46	Tajikistan	13.8	12.6	12.3	12.9	13.4	0.6	66	66	65	66	65
47	Kazakhstan	13.3	11.8	12.1	12.8	14.3	1.1	65	65	64	64	64
48	Jordan	12.9	14.2	10.5	12.4	12.8	2.2	65	65	66	64	64
49	Malaysia	13.0	14.1	11.5	12.2	11.1	2.4	64	66	63	63	62
50	Turkey	13.0	11.5	11.6	13.2	11.4	3.1	64	66	65	69	63

Rank	Country	Private life	Family life	Community life	National life	Church life	Violence	Total Score WWL 2024	Total Score WWL 2023	Total Score WWL 2022	Total Score WWL 2021	Total Score WWL 2020
51	Kenya	10.3	9.2	11.4	8.0	11.5	12.4	63	64	63	62	61
52	Tanzania	9.3	10.8	10.3	8.6	8.7	14.4	62	63	61	58	55
53	Nepal	12.1	10.4	9.5	13.2	12.3	4.4	62	61	64	66	64
54	Kuwait	13.1	13.6	9.4	12.0	12.2	0.9	61	64	64	63	62
55	Djibouti	12.3	12.6	12.7	10.1	12.3	1.1	61	60	59	56	56
56	Chad	11.6	8.2	10.2	10.2	10.3	10.6	61	58	55	53	56
57	UAE	13.3	13.4	9.5	11.3	12.8	0.7	61	62	62	62	60
58	Sri Lanka	12.9	9.2	10.8	11.5	9.7	5.9	60	57	63	62	65
59	Azerbaijan	13.2	9.9	9.6	11.9	13.6	1.7	60	59	60	56	57
60	Palestinian Territories	13.1	13.3	9.7	10.7	12.1	0.9	60	60	59	58	60
61	Kyrgyzstan	13.2	10.3	11.3	10.5	12.2	1.3	59	59	58	58	57
62	Russian Federation	12.7	7.7	10.6	12.8	12.9	1.7	58	57	56	57	60
63	Rwanda	9.4	7.7	9.0	10.4	11.7	9.4	58	57	50	42	42
64	Burundi	7.6	7.8	9.4	9.8	9.7	12.8	57	55	52	48	48
65	Bahrain	12.0	13.2	8.6	11.3	8.5	1.1	55	55	57	56	55
66	Honduras	7.9	4.7	12.2	7.3	9.9	12.6	55	53	48	46	39
67	Venezuela	6.0	4.4	11.1	10.0	10.8	10.7	53	56	51	39	42
68	Togo	9.2	6.7	9.3	7.1	11.0	8.9	52	49	44	43	41
69	Guinea	10.3	7.5	8.3	8.3	10.5	7.2	52	48	43	47	45
70	Uganda	8.1	5.0	7.4	6.7	8.8	15.9	52	51	48	47	48
71	Angola	6.8	6.7	8.1	11.5	11.4	7.2	52	52	51	46	43
72	Lebanon	11.0	10.2	7.0	6.1	6.6	7.2	48	40	11	-	35
73	Gambia	8.3	8.2	8.9	8.8	8.9	3.7	47	44	44	43	43
74	South Sudan	5.7	4.4	7.0	6.3	7.6	15.6	46	46	43	43	44
75	Belarus	9.6	3.8	5.8	9.7	13.3	3.3	46	43	33	30	28
76	Ivory Coast	12.0	6.5	8.7	5.9	8.0	3.3	44	44	42	42	42
77	Ukraine	5.5	4.8	8.0	11.6	11.6	2.8	44	37	37	34	33
78	Israel	9.8	8.6	5.8	6.3	6.9	6.7	44	38	41	40	38

Copyright note

This document is the property of World Watch Research (WWR), the research department of Open Doors International. It may be used and distributed free of charge, but please always acknowledge the source as: © 2024 Open Doors International.

Sources and definitions

- This country report is a collation of data and analysis based around Open Doors World Watch List (WWL) and includes statistical information on world religions, Christian denominations and people groups prepared by the World Christian Database (WCD).
- Highlighted links in the text can be found written out in full at the conclusion of each main section under the heading "External links". In order to reduce the length of these reference sections, a table containing links to regularly used sources can be found at the beginning of the "Keys to Understanding" chapter under the heading "Links for general background information". Where one of these sources has been quoted in the dossier text, a quote reference is supplied as indicated in the second column of the table.
- The WWL 2024 reporting period was 1 October 2022 30 September 2023.
- The definition of persecution used in WWL analysis is: "Any hostility experienced as a result
 of one's identification with Christ. This can include hostile attitudes, words and actions
 towards Christians". This broad definition includes (but is not limited to) restrictions,
 pressure, discrimination, opposition, disinformation, injustice, intimidation, mistreatment,
 marginalization, oppression, intolerance, infringement, violation, ostracism, hostilities,
 harassment, abuse, violence, ethnic cleansing and genocide.
- The latest update of WWL Methodology can be found on the research pages of the Open Doors website: <u>https://www.opendoors.org/en-US/research-reports/wwl-documentation/</u> and on the Open Doors Analytical website (password: freedom): <u>https://opendoorsanalytical.org/world-watch-list-documentation/</u>.

WWL 2024 Situation in brief / Afghanistan

Brief country details

In the table below, the number of Christians shown is an Open Doors (OD) estimate.

Afghanistan: Population (UN estimate for 2023)	Christians	Chr%	
41,681,000	Thousands	OD estimate	



Map of country

Afghanistan: World Watch List	Points	WWL Rank
WWL 2024	84	10
WWL 2023	84	9
WWL 2022	98	1
WWL 2021	94	2
WWL 2020	93	2

Afghanistan: **Main Persecution engines** Main drivers Government officials, Ethnic group leaders, Non-Christian religious leaders, Violent religious groups, One's own Islamic oppression (extended) family, Revolutionaries or paramilitary groups Government officials, Ethnic group leaders, Non-Christian religious leaders, Violent religious groups, Citizens (people Clan oppression from the broader society), including mobs, One's own (extended) family, Revolutionaries or paramilitary groups Non-Christian religious leaders, Government officials, Ethnic group leaders, Violent religious groups, Citizens (people from Dictatorial paranoia the broader society), including mobs, One's own (extended) family, Organized crime cartels or networks Violent religious groups, Revolutionaries or paramilitary groups, Organized crime cartels or networks, Government Organized corruption and crime officials

Dominant persecution engines and drivers

Engines and Drivers are listed in order of strength. Only Very strong / Strong / Medium are shown here.

Brief description of the persecution situation

Almost all Afghan Christians are converts from Islam and are not able to practice their faith openly. Leaving Islam is considered shameful and punishable by death under Islamic law, which is increasingly being implemented throughout the country by the Taliban government, which took over the country on 15 August 2021. If exposed, Christian converts have to flee the country. The family, clan or tribe must save its 'honor' and deal with any known convert. After the Taliban took over, most Christians tried to leave the country and/or went into hiding. The take-over proved to be a game-changer especially for women, who are confined to the walls of their homes, but also for ethnic and religious minorities, including Christian converts, who are seen as apostates. As the Taliban continue to consolidate power - despite appearing to be far from unified -, Christian converts are having to adapt and conform to the rigid form of society implemented.

Summary of international obligations and rights violations

Afghanistan has committed to respect and protect fundamental rights in the following international treaties:

- 1. International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR)
- 2. International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR)
- 3. <u>Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or</u> <u>Punishment</u> (CAT)
- 4. <u>Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women</u> (CEDAW)
- 5. <u>Convention on the Rights of the Child</u> (CRC)

Afghanistan is not fulfilling its international obligations by regularly violating or failing to protect the following rights of Christians:

- Christian converts are killed on suspicion of their faith (ICCPR Art. 6)
- Women converts are forcibly married and forced to recant their beliefs (ICCPR Art. 23.3 and CEDAW Art. 16)
- Afghans are assumed to be Muslims and are not allowed to change their religion (ICCPR Art. 18)
- Christians cannot display any religious images or symbols (ICCPR Arts. 18 and 19)
- Children of Christian converts are forced to adhere to Islamic religious precepts and receive Islamic teaching (ICCPR Art. 18 and CRC Art. 14)

Specific examples of violations of rights in the reporting period

No specific examples can be given for security reasons. For more information, please refer to the section on Violence below.

Specific examples of positive developments

There are no examples of positive developments in the country.

External Links - Situation in brief

- Summary of international obligations and rights violations: International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx
- Summary of international obligations and rights violations: International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cescr.aspx
- Summary of international obligations and rights violations: Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cat.aspx
- Summary of international obligations and rights violations: Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women https://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CEDAW.aspx
- Summary of international obligations and rights violations: Convention on the Rights of the Child https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx

WWL 2024: Keys to understanding / Afghanistan

Links for general background information

Name	Quote Reference	Link	Last accessed on
Afghanistan Analysts Network - AAN	AAN Afghanistan	https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/	26 June 2023
Amnesty International 2022/23 Afghanistan report	Al, Afghanistan 2022	https://www.amnesty.org/en/location/asia-and-the-pacific/south- asia/afghanistan/report-afghanistan/	26 June 2023
BBC Afghanistan profile	BBC Afghanistan profile	https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-south-asia-12011352	26 June 2023
Bertelsmann Transformation Index report 2022	BTI 2022 Afghanistan	https://bti-project.org/en/reports/country-report/AFG	26 June 2023
CIA World Factbook - updated 15 June 2023	World Factbook Afghanistan	https://www.cia.gov/the-world-factbook/countries/afghanistan/	26 June 2023
Crisis24 Afghanistan report	Crisis24 Afghanistan	https://crisis24.garda.com/insights-intelligence/intelligence/country- reports/afghanistan	26 June 2023
Economist Intelligence Unit Afghanistan profile 2023	EIU Afghanistan profile 2023	https://country.eiu.com/afghanistan	26 June 2023
FFP's Fragile States Index 2023	FSI 2023 Afghanistan	https://fragilestatesindex.org/country-data/	26 June 2023
Freedom House's 2023 Democracy index (29 countries - Afghanistan not included)	Democracy Index 2023	https://freedomhouse.org/countries/nations-transit/scores	
Freedom House's 2023 Global Freedom index (210 countries)	Global Freedom Index 2023 Afghanistan	https://freedomhouse.org/country/afghanistan/freedom-world/2023	26 June 2023
Freedom House's Freedom on the Net 2023 report (70 countries - Afghanistan not included)	Freedom on the Net 2023	https://freedomhouse.org/countries/freedom-net/scores	
Georgetown's Women, Peace and Security Index 2021/2022 – covering 170 countries	GIWPS 2021 Afghanistan profile	https://giwps.georgetown.edu/country/afghanistan/	26 June 2023
Girls Not Brides Afghanistan report	Girls not Brides Afghanistan	https://www.girlsnotbrides.org/learning-resources/child-marriage-atlas/regions- and-countries/afghanistan/	26 June 2023
Human Rights Watch World Report 2023 Afghanistan	HRW 2023 Afghanistan country chapter	https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2023/country-chapters/afghanistan	26 June 2023
Internet World Stats available in 2023	IWS 2023 Afghanistan	https://www.internetworldstats.com/asia.htm#af	26 June 2023
RSF's 2023 World Press Freedom Index (180 countries)	World Press Freedom 2023 Afghanistan	https://rsf.org/en/afghanistan	26 June 2023
Transparency International's 2022 Corruption Perceptions Index (180 countries)	CPI 2022 Afghanistan	https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2022/index/afg	26 June 2023
UNDP: Human Development Report Afghanistan	UNDP HDR 2022 Afghanistan	https://hdr.undp.org/data-center/specific-country-data#/countries/AFG	26 June 2023
US State Department's 2022 International Religious Freedom Report Afghanistan	IRFR 2022 Afghanistan	https://www.state.gov/reports/2022-report-on-international-religious- freedom/afghanistan/	26 June 2023
USCIRF 2023 Afghanistan country report (17 CPC and 11 SWL countries)	USCIRF 2023 Afghanistan CPC	https://www.uscirf.gov/sites/default/files/2023-05/Afghanistan.pdf	26 June 2023
World Bank Afghanistan data 2021	World Bank Afghanistan data	https://databank.worldbank.org/views/reports/reportwidget.aspx?Report_Name =CountryProfileId=b450fd57tbar=ydd=yinf=nzm=ncountry=AFG	26 June 2023
World Bank Afghanistan overview - updated 4 April 2023	World Bank Afghanistan overview	https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/afghanistan/overview	26 June 2023
World Bank Macro Poverty Outlook - April 2023	Macro Poverty Outlook 2023 Afghanistan	https://thedocs.worldbank.org/en/doc/5d1783db09a0e09d15bbcea8ef0cec0b- 0500052021/related/mpo-afg.pdf	26 June 2023

Recent history

It is not often that a single date turns out to be a game-changer for a whole country, but Afghanistan experienced such a date. The 15 August 2021 marked the date when the Taliban took over power after the elected government had fled the country. The take-over was surprisingly swift and as they continue to consolidate power, comparisons with their first rule of the country in the 1990s are being made. The <u>prediction</u> in the WWL 2022 documentation has unfortunately come true: "In 1996 the Taliban seized control of Kabul and imposed radical Sharia law until 2001 when they were ousted from power by the US-led international military invasion. There are signs that many of the Taliban's policies of the 1990s are now making a re-appearance" (WWR, Afghanistan - Full Country Dossier, January 2022, p.8). These signs continue to amass, especially when it comes to the treatment of women and minorities, although the Taliban seem to be a far from unified movement (see below: *Political and legal landscape*).

In 2004 the first presidential and in 2005 the first parliamentary elections were held for more than 30 years. Hamid Karzai became the first president.

In 2014 NATO formally ended its combat mission in Afghanistan. However, international troops continued to be based in the country and the Taliban continued to control certain areas. Talks between the US government and the Taliban collapsed in September 2019, but the USA <u>signed</u> an agreement with the Taliban on 29 February 2020 and withdrew almost one third of its re-

maining troops by end of June 2020 (The Guardian, 29 February 2020). The new US administration's <u>announcement</u> in April 2021 to withdraw all of its troops by 11 September 2021 at the latest was a real game-changer - and the hasty and messy process of withdrawal by the end of August 2021 damaged the image of the USA far beyond Afghanistan. While Taliban rule is by-and-large unchallenged, continued attacks by the Islamic State group (ISKP) show that not all is well, as does the Kabul regime's relationship with and hosting of the Pakistan Taliban (TTP). The killing of al-Qaeda leader Aiman al Zawahiri at the end of July 2022 in a downtown district of Kabul belied the Taliban's claims of having nothing to do with al-Qaeda (see below: *Security situation*).

Another big challenge the Taliban are facing is the fact that neighboring countries <u>Pakistan</u> (GG2, 3 January 2024) and <u>Iran</u> (PAN, 3 January 2024) have begun to force the repatriation of many thousands of Afghan refugees. This can only put immense pressure on Afghanistan's already strained economy and social fabric.

The small groups of Christians in the country have had to adapt to the new circumstances by either relocating within the country, seeking refuge abroad for security reasons, or by trying to stay put but more deeply hidden. They are affected by the insecurity and the difficult economic situation (which has worsened since the COVID-19 crisis). As the Taliban enjoys widely unchallenged power and is implementing a strict version of Islamic Sharia law, Christians cannot expect any space in society and they may also be affected by possible infighting between the various Taliban factions as well as by the Taliban's battle against ISKP.

Political and legal landscape

The swift Taliban advance, taking over the country in a few weeks in 2021 and the more or less non-existent resistance of the Kabul authorities, shocked observers but also showed that institution-building in Afghanistan had remained weak. It also proved true what has been said already for many years, namely that Afghan loyalty is first to one's family and clan or tribe, not to a country or nation. A resistance movement did emerge in the mountainous north, bolstered by the remains of the Afghan National Defense Force. However, the Taliban took control of the whole of Afghanistan after a successful final military offensive in the mountainous province of Panjshir, 100km north of Kabul (BBC News, 6 September 2021). Amnesty International reported that the suppression in the Panjshir valley amounts to the war crime of <u>collective punishment</u> (Amnesty, 8 June 2023). Opposition forces have proved negligible and never held appreciable territory; they have not been supported by neighboring countries and cannot be classed as a coordinated armed resistance movement (for more details, see below: *Security situation/National Resistance Front*).

There were no real <u>surprises</u> when, on 7 September 2021, the Taliban announced the names of various officials whose task was to form a new interim government (ICG, 9 September 2021); it is worth remembering that the earlier Taliban government was termed 'interim' throughout their time in power between 1996 and 2001. All calls for an inclusive government went unheard. None of those serving in the former government under President Ghani were included in the Taliban government, nor were any women included. The fact that the ethnic set-up is almost exclusively Pashtun - of the 33 ministers only two are Tajik and one Uzbek - shows that consolidation of power and unity within the Taliban movement were dominant motives. The in-

clusion of ministers still appearing as 'wanted' on international terrorist lists and the strong representation of the Haqqani network (which has strong ties with Pakistan) show that another main goal may have been to share the spoils of victory. The Taliban's final <u>government line-up</u> added nothing substantial to make it more inclusive of ethnic minorities or even women (Afghan Analysts Network - AAN, 7 October 2021). Nothing has changed in this respect in the WWL 2024 reporting period.

It also did not come as a surprise that the Taliban leader ordered the <u>re-introduction of harsh</u> <u>Sharia punishments</u> (including amputations and executions) for certain crimes, (BBC News, 15 November 2022). On 17 May 2023, the Taliban temporarily <u>appointed</u> a new Prime Minister, Abdul Kabir, as the incumbent had been ill, but a policy change is not to be expected (Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty - RFE-RL,19 May 2023).

The announcement in March 2022 that secondary schools for girls would re-open soon, only to be canceled at the last minute when girls were already lining up to enter schools, shows at least two things: First, the Taliban is not unified in its policy approach; and secondly, it does not really seem to care about the echo of international donors, given that this drama unfolded shortly before a major international donor conference held on 31 March 2022. It seems that conservative elements in the Afghan government are dominant, at least for the time being. Although details in reports vary about how the U-turn came to pass, it is clear that such a decision could only have been taken by the highest authority of the Taliban, Emir Hibatullah Akhundzada, himself (AAN, 29 March 2022). The Taliban has continued to show that Islamist ideology has little respect for the needs of the Afghan people after women were (partly) banned from working for NGOs in December 2022. This led some NGOs to <u>suspend their programs</u>, since this ban effectively stopped all projects aimed at helping women and children (CNN, 26 December 2022). And the Taliban has banned not just NGOs from <u>employing women</u>, but also the UN, a move condemned in the strongest terms by the international organization (BBC News, 6 April 2023).

In a rare public outburst, Taliban Minister of the Interior Sirajuddin Haqqani <u>criticized</u> Afghanistan's leadership for "monopolizing" power (VOA, 13 February 2023). At a religious gathering in his home province, Khost, he said: 'Our views and thoughts have dominated us to such an extent that power monopolization and defamation of the entire [ruling] system have become common", adding that the Taliban should not adopt policies that drive a wedge between "the [ruling] system and the people, allowing others to exploit it to defame Islam." However, as far as can be seen, all Taliban factions agree on the supreme goal of consolidating their rule over the country.

The small Christian community faces a difficult future. At the same time as the Taliban are consolidating and shaping power, Afghan society faces an emboldened ISKP which has been reinforced with radical elements freed from prison, disgruntled Taliban fighters and other insurgents. As early as November 2021, the UN Special Representative for Afghanistan, Deborah Lyons, stated that the ISKP is now <u>active in all provinces</u> (Reuters, 17 November 2021), although estimations of their size vary. Signs of any <u>organized resistance</u> against the Taliban – whether inside or outside the country – appear non-existent (Jamestown Foundation, 31 March 2023). This does not mean it is not happening, but ethnic-based fighting or the emergence of warlords

is unlikely in the short term. Should the Taliban continue to neglect ethnic minorities or restrict them, this might change. In such a case, the Christian minority can easily find themselves caught in the middle of such confrontations. A Taliban spokesman <u>denied outright that Christians exist</u> in Afghanistan, when he was directly asked about it (Voice of America, 16 May 2022); this is the official standpoint of the Taliban.

Gender perspective

Women's rights in Afghanistan have long been fragile, even prior to the Taliban takeover of Afghanistan in August 2021. Reflecting this, Afghanistan performed poorly in Georgetown's <u>Women, Peace and Security Index 2019/20</u>, ranking 166th out of 167 countries and criticized for several discriminatory laws. Under Taliban rule, it has now slipped even further to last place (GIWPS 2021 Afghanistan profile). Since the start of the peace process, the Taliban consistently claimed to guarantee women's security in Afghanistan. Upon taking over the country, they <u>publicly stated</u> that women would be allowed to continue to be active in society and benefit from their rights, working 'shoulder to shoulder' with the Taliban within Islamic Sharia (Al-Jazeera, 21 August 2021). Since the Taliban take-over however, human rights organizations have consistently condemned the Taliban's treatment of women. Women are no longer allowed to travel further than <u>75km</u> without a 'mahram' (UNHCR, 8 March 2023).

In a move that has to be understood as symbolic, the Taliban dissolved the Ministry of Women's Affairs and re-installed in the very same building the notorious and dreaded Ministry of Vice and Virtue, a body that was notorious for some of the worst violations against women in the Taliban's previous reign of power (<u>HRW 2022</u>, <u>country chapter Afghanistan</u>). USIP has a comprehensive <u>timeline</u> detailing dozens of Taliban policies limiting women and their rights (United States Institute of Peace, last accessed 21 July 2023).

Child marriage rates remain high, with 28% of girls and 7% of boys being married before the age of 18 (Girls Not Brides Afghanistan), and is expected to rise under Taliban rule due to the increasingly dire economic situation; parents are selling their young daughters in order to make the remainder of the family survive (<u>UNICEF statement, 12 November 2021</u>; <u>World Vision</u>, <u>August 2022</u>).

Religious landscape

Afghanistan: Religious context	Number of adherents	%
Christians	Thousands	-

According to OD-estimate

The Open Doors estimate for the number of Christians in Afghanistan remains "thousands", despite the fact that many have left the country in recent years. According to WCD March 2023 statistics, more than 99% of the population is Muslim and there are also small groups of Hindus, Bahai and Buddhists (among others). For security reasons, no WCD breakdown of religious groups is shown here. 90% of Muslims in Afghanistan follow Sunni Islam, while approximately 9.7% adhere to Shiite Islam. The Hazara tribe is predominantly Shiite, while the main ethnic group in Afghanistan, the Pashtu, are Sunni. They dominate the political landscape but are in need of such minorities as the Uzbeks and Tajiks to exercise power.

Even before the Taliban took power, from an official point of view, there were no Christians in the country apart from some international military staff, diplomats and NGO workers. After the withdrawal of international troops and the related exodus of other international staff, the number of Christians has indeed declined. Indigenous Christians (mostly those with a Muslim background) are in hiding as much as possible.

Gender perspective

Against this religious backdrop, daily life is challenging for both Christian men and women and they are forced to live out their faith in secret. Female converts, whose conversion becomes known, may be forcibly married to a Muslim or confined to the walls of their home while men face imprisonment, torture and death threats. Under Taliban rule, women are now expected to cover-up fully in public (El Pais, 8 March 2023), and men are also pressured to conform to Taliban expectations, such as growing a beard and having an approved haircut (EUAA, January 2023, p.75).

Economic landscape

According to the UNDP Human Development Report Afghanistan:

- Gross National Income per capita: 1,824 USD (in 2017 PPP)
- **Rate of multidimensional poverty:** 55.9% of the population are in multi-dimensional poverty and a further 18.1% are vulnerable to it. 54.5% of the population are living below the national poverty line (2015/16).

According to World Bank Afghanistan data:

- Afghanistan is classified by the World Bank as a low-income economy.
- GDP per capita, PPP (constant 2017 international USD): 1.516 (2021)
- *Birth rate:* The birth rate has been declining over the decades and stands at 2.9.
- **GDP per capita growth rate:** The annual GDP growth rate is declining and stood at an estimated 1.54% for 2019, -2.4% for 2020 and -20.7% for 2021
- Poverty gap at 6.85 USD a day (2017 PPP): n/a
- *Remittances:* 2% (2021)

A recent summary of socio-economic data in Afghanistan can be found in the "World Bank Afghanistan <u>Economic Monitor</u>" published on 28 February 2023.

Afghanistan is a land-locked country and faces multiple challenges in its economy. Maybe the most obvious is that due to decades of civil war, the country has suffered widespread destruction. Its infrastructure is in poor condition and limited in capacity; it also has a very challenging geography with high mountains and harsh weather conditions. The country cannot currently take advantage of its rich mineral resources (most likely including oil and gas as well) as these commodities need foreign investment and safe transportation, which in turn require political stability. Even China, which is commodity-hungry and willing to take more risks than most other investors, remains cautious, although the Taliban are turning to China in looking for investment in economic and infrastructural <u>development</u>, (Axios, 9 May 2023). The first contracts have reportedly been <u>signed</u> (BBC News, 7 January 2023), but any meaningful invest-

ment has still to be forthcoming. For development to benefit the general population, the security situation has to stabilize, which was not yet the case in 2023. The challenges of governing the TAPI pipeline (delivering oil from Turkmenistan via and to Afghanistan, Pakistan and India) is a telling example (NBR, 22 June 2021). Despite Beijing's desire to see the Belt and Road Initiative make further progress, China is well aware of Afghanistan's reputation of being a "graveyard of empires".

For many years, Afghanistan was classified as a "rent-seeking" economy, meaning that a broad segment of its income came from international donors. According to an AAN Special Report published in May 2020, <u>48% of the current government budget</u> was funded by international aid. But those were just the official figures: The report estimated the actual percentage to be closer to 75% - and in former years this probably even reached 90%. These funds largely dried up with the withdrawal of international troops and many international NGOs, and accelerated by the withdrawal or program-downsizing carried out by many NGOs after the Taliban limited the employment of women. Almost immediately after the Taliban took over power in Afghanistan, the IMF estimated that its economy would <u>fall by 30%</u> (Reuters, 19 October 2021).

Most Western donors are struggling to find ways of keeping humanitarian aid flowing without recognizing or even supporting the Taliban government. And while the World Bank reports that an increase of humanitarian contributions in the form of 'in-kind support' has helped Afghan people to survive (and to some extent avoid expected disasters), distributing humanitarian aid in a <u>collapsed economy</u> while navigating a very uncertain political situation poses its very own challenges (AAN, 23 May 2022). The Western 'donors' fatigue' is causing shortfalls in the level of funds required for the mere survival of the Afghan population. This has led some observers to challenge the international community, especially the Western donor countries, into rethinking its policy of not engaging diplomatically with the Taliban (The Interpreter, 13 April 2023). However, it does not seem likely that any such direct engagement will happen within the next months.

Not surprisingly, farmers and other citizens have often relied heavily on the production of illicit drugs to make money and earn a living. Traditionally, this has been opium and the crop was still widely planted and harvested in 2022. The Taliban issued a <u>ban</u> on its growing and processing in April 2022 (AAN, 14 April 2022), and the implementation in 2023 seems to be strict. According to a November 2022 UNODC report, opium cultivation in Afghanistan <u>grew by 32%</u> (UNODC Research Brief, 1 November 2022). However, as reported by Alcis on 7 June 2023, as a result of the announcement of a ban on the cultivation and production of opium in Afghanistan in April 2022 (just seven months after taking power), the Taliban have subsequently managed to reduce poppy cultivation to levels not seen since their 2000-2001 prohibition. In March 2023, a further ban targeted the cultivation of cannabis and the production of hashish. According to the BBC, the Taliban had already banned ephedra cultivation used for the methamphetamine industry in 2021 (BBC News, 12 December 2021). But the consequences of this policy will only be felt in the years to come.

An in-depth study published by AAN on 15 June 2023 concludes:

"Much will depend on whether the ban is maintained into a second and subsequent years, as lost harvests hit the incomes of richer farmers, traders deal with dwindling stockpiles of opium, the government deals with a loss of income and Afghanistan's national economy suffers. 2024 and future years will be the real test for the Taliban's anti-drug policy." Opium produced and stored before the ban is reported as being openly sold at Afghan markets (RFE-RL, 18 August 2023). An <u>update</u> of the AAN report, published on 15 November 2023, confirms an apparently strict ban and even refers to a new law dating from August 2023, but concludes: "For the authorities, eradication carries risks if people feel they are being unfairly targeted or that the government is forcing them into penury. And will the IEA really put a good portion of its rural, work-able population in prison, or turn on traders? As the IEA's policy on narcotics moves into its second year, it is clear that the consequences are not just economic, but could have repercussions for politics and social peace."

Another challenge has been the surge in production of chemical drugs such as methamphetamine, as has been <u>reported in detail</u> by the European Monitoring Center for Drugs and Drug Addiction in November 2020. Observers are particularly <u>concerned</u> about this because significant amounts of these drugs are always consumed in-country (BBC News, 24 November 2020). In this respect, the ban on ephedra and actions against the production places will need to be watched.

Farms are also facing increasing challenges. 42.8% of the total workforce are employed in agriculture and according to the World Bank even 60% of all households derive at least some income from agriculture and 74% are still living in rural areas. Even those farmers producing fruit and licit crops faced challenges, as the fall-out from the war, a persistent drought in the southern Kandahar region and closed borders led to <u>fruit and crops</u> being harvested, but then rotting on trucks as farmers were unable to export them (AAN, 7 April 2022). Meanwhile, there are claims that <u>global warming and climate change</u> are leading to a thinning and breaking apart of Afghan glaciers and a change in the pattern of rainfall, causing droughts to become more common and widespread (AAN, 6 June 2022). Pressure to improve efficiency is high: While the population has tripled since the 1960s, the amount of available arable land has not increased. A series of powerful earthquakes in the western province of Herat caused great <u>devastation</u> and showed how vulnerable Afghanistan is to natural disasters (AAN, 10 November 2023).

The Taliban announced that in the first seven months of 2022, Afghanistan had <u>exported 1.85</u> <u>billion USD</u> of goods; the main markets have been neighboring Pakistan, India, Tajikistan and China (Tolo News, 8 November 2022). The Taliban government also signed a <u>preliminary deal</u> with Russia on the delivery of gas and wheat (Al-Jazeera, 28 September 2022). Even though it needs to be seen how such a deal will be implemented, it signals a broadening of international ties, especially remarkable given the history of the Soviet-Afghan war in 1979-1989. While there is no reliable data on the Afghan economy, it seems that it is very challenging, but not as dire as some observers feared. Nevertheless, it is clear that the <u>level of welfare</u> of most households has declined considerably (AAN, 7 November 2023).

Christians in Afghanistan share the lot of their fellow countrymen. Since any exposure of their Christian faith would certainly mean discrimination, the loss of livelihood and possibly even their very life, they are careful to hide their faith. Due to their Christian convictions, they will not actively participate in opium production and the general drug trade, but it is difficult for them to stand up against it as well.

Gender perspective

Women have long been among the most economically vulnerable in Afghanistan, in part due to low education and employment rates, and patrilineal inheritance practices. Afghanistan's education system has historically suffered from decades of sustained conflict, with low enrolment rates in rural areas, particularly for girls (UNICEF, accessed June 2023). Since the resurgence of Taliban rule, only the re-opening of schools for boys was announced in September (BBC News, 27 March 2023). Women, especially married women, have become increasingly reliant on men as the breadwinners, due to diminishing employment and education opportunities (see above: *Political and legal landscape*, and below: *Social and cultural land-scape*). The Taliban's policy on women working with NGOs and INGOs has only further restricted outreach to disadvantaged women, especially single women, and widows (Save the Children, 15 February 2023).

Social and cultural landscape

According to the World Factbook Afghanistan and UNDP's Human Development Report Afghanistan:

- *Main ethnic groups:* The largest ethnolinguistic groups are Pashtun, Tajik, Hazara, Uzbek, Aimak, Turkmen, Baloch and others. The Afghan Constitution mentions 14 different ethnic groups
- *Main languages:* The two main languages are Dari (a Farsi dialect) and Pashtu
- **Urbanization rate:** While it is difficult to come across reliable data, according to a 2016 World Bank report, 54% of the urban population in Afghanistan lived in Kabul and its urbanization rate is one of the highest of the world. The official CIA figure is 26.9%.
- Literacy rate: 37.3% (15 years and older)
- Mean years of schooling: 3.0
- *Health and education indicators:* Afghanistan has a pupil-teacher ratio in primary school of 49:1. There are 2.8 doctors and 4 hospital beds per 10,000 people

According to World Bank Afghanistan data:

- Age: The population under the age of 14 is 43%; the population above 65 is 2% (2021)
- *Education:* The completion rate for primary education is 84% (2019)
- **Unemployment:** 11.7%, the rate of vulnerable employment is 83% (modeled ILO estimate, 2020)
- *IDPs/Refugees:* According to the UN's International Organization for Migration (<u>IOM</u>, accessed 21 June 2023), as of August 2022 (last report available on the website), there were over 5.3 million people living internally displaced. In 2022, an additional 400.000 IDPs have been added. In the UNDP Snapshot it is estimated that from 2021 to April 2022 around 2.5

million Afghans left the country, while only 1.1 million returned from abroad in the same timeframe (page 26).

According to UNDP's Human Development Report Afghanistan:

- *Human Development Index (HDI):* With a score of 0.478, Afghanistan ranks 180th of 191 listed countries
- Life expectancy: 62 years
- Median age: 19.5
- GINI coefficient: n/a
- Gender inequality: With a score of 0.678, Afghanistan ranks 167th of 191 listed countries
- **Unemployment:** The unemployment rate is 11.1%, the youth (between 15 and 24) unemployment rate 17.4%, the rate of youth neither in school or employment is 41.8%.
- Labor Force Participation rate: 48.9% (21.6% female and 74.7% male)

Afghanistan faces a multitude of challenges besides the recovery from decades of war and the continued attacks by ISKP. The country is split up into a variety of ethnic groups which are strong in different parts of the country. It seems that all are aiming to secure their own position and are not interested in the well-being of Afghanistan as a whole. The Pashtuns are often regarded as being most dominant, but even within the Pashtun community, divisions occur along tribal lines as well. These splits became apparent in the 'peace talks in Doha as well. The Taliban are a Pashtun movement and are clearly dominated by this ethnicity. A well-known Afghani saying states: "First my tribe, then my people and then the country". Political cooperation is constantly affected by mistrust and it is worrying that ethnic groups see the need to arm themselves and publicly state that they will defend their people against insurgents.

An understanding of terms like 'civil society' has never become firmly rooted in Afghanistan, so pressure groups caring for social development and/or issues concerning women, minorities or human rights can do little to influence the country's political development and can even become a target for attacks. Groups supporting the rule of law, participation in the political process or government accountability are quickly suspected of being agents of the international community, furthering the agenda of the West. These are also often labelled as 'non-believers'. This would seem to apply also to Western NGOs working in the country, including the few Christian ones. The Taliban has carried out <u>targeted killings</u> of "collaborators" with the old government and of citizens claimed to be "militants" (Human Rights Watch, 7 July 2022).

The serious restrictions for women working with NGOs or the United Nations (see above: *Political landscape*) also means that thousands of dependent families are <u>without any income</u> (AAN, 28 December 2022). At the same time, the restrictions on movement of women are having an effect on men as well, especially in households with only a few men to accompany women to necessary appointments such as visits to the doctor or the provision of basic needs. The time male relatives spend on accompanying them, they are not available for work. Finally, the strict ban on poppy and other drug precursors will have an economic and social toll as well, even though this will only show after a few years (see above: Economic landscape). Such bans impose "huge economic and humanitarian costs on Afghans and it is likely to further stimulate an out-

flow of refugees. It may even result in internal challenges for the Taliban itself" (USIP, 8 June 2023).

A <u>UNICEF country report</u> published in May 2018 showed what the dire situation in Afghanistan means for civilians, especially for children: 44% of all children in the age between 7 and 17 were not attending school, 60% of whom were girls. The out-of-school rate increased for the first time since 2002. According to the <u>UNICEF</u> 2021 Humanitarian Situation report, at least four million children were out of school. It is hard to see how the next generation will have any real perspectives without education and without any improvement in security and the economic situation. Before the Taliban took over full government control in 2021, in those areas ruled by the Taliban, schools were often allowed to function and, in some regions, girls were allowed to attend classes up to a certain age. However, many school buildings were dilapidated and damaged by the war and the Taliban did nothing to repair or renovate them, as a <u>report</u> from April 2020 showed (USIP, 30 April 2020).

The immediate aftermath of the Taliban take-over of the government in Kabul in August 2021 sent mixed signals in this respect. Even before the take-over was complete, reports were coming in from the provinces that women were being <u>forced to leave their jobs</u>, for example in banks (Reuters, 13 August 2021). The subject of education illustrates perfectly that the Taliban is not yet following a uniform approach. It was reported that girls in northern Afghanistan (such as in <u>Mazar-e-Sharif</u>), can still attend school classes as long as they follow strict dress regulations (Reuters, 12 October 2021). However, the so-called 'Islamic Emirate' (as Taliban likes to refer to its government set-up) had at that time only been in full power for a few months and it could be that such regional differences will gradually disappear with time. The delayed and then largely cancelled re-opening of secondary school education for girls (see above: *Political and legal landscape*) has a <u>devastating</u> impact on the future perspectives for girls (Reuters, 30 June 2022).

According to the report by the Special Inspector General for Afghanistan Reconstruction (<u>SIGAR</u>) published on 12 July 2019, the number of users of drugs (such as opium and heroin) within Afghanistan rose to between 2.9 million and 3.6 million in 2015, which is one of the world's highest per capita rates (more recent numbers are not available). This also indicates that many people, especially the younger generation, are lacking any real future perspectives.

Most people find themselves struggling with the consequences of the economic collapse in family life, and the harsh weather conditions, especially in <u>winter</u>, add an extra burden on making ends meet, even in Kabul (AAN, 28 February 2023). The UN Humanitarian overview from January 2023 states that two thirds of the population (or 28.3 million people) require urgent humanitarian assistance, which illustrates the size of the challenge, exacerbated by the fact that Afghanistan is struggling with donor fatigue and a plethora of other crises competing for attention and funds. Neighboring countries are also reluctant to help and anyway cannot meet the level of support needed. In the growing desperation, reports emerged from IDP camps that families have been increasingly resorting to <u>selling their girls</u>, some as young as four, to survive (CNN, 2 November 2021). Many others are simply looking for a way to flee or migrate out of Afghanistan.

In a summarizing report, AAN quoted different agencies and NGOs saying that 3.2 million children under 5 and an estimated 840,000 pregnant and lactating women suffer from <u>severe or</u> <u>moderate acute malnutrition</u> (AAN, 7 July 2023). The UNDP Socio-Economic Outlook (18 April 2023, pp.63-64) shows in <u>detail</u> the ways households try to cope with the challenge of surviving: "[M]ore than 4.3 million households have borrowed simply for securing food. Many households have mortgaged their future, having sold productive assets such as their last female animals (1.1 million) or other income-generating equipment or means of transport (over 0.6 million), and even their houses or land (over 0.3 million). In many cases, households were forced to mortgage their children's future by seeking recourse to child labor (more than 850,000) or marrying their daughters earlier than intended (nearly 80,000), to combat extreme food insecurity."

Gender perspective

Afghanistan is heavily dominated by Islamic tenets and discriminatory restrictions which relegate women to 'second-class citizens' (AI, 26 May 2023). Women and girls face restrictions in almost all areas of daily life and became increasingly vulnerable within the context of the COVID-19 crisis and under Taliban rule (Unherd, 27 May 2022). The dire economic and social situation and the restrictions not to leave the house are especially hard for widows, of which there are tens of thousands - if not hundreds of thousands - in the country. Their and their families' survival is in jeopardy (AAN, 20 July 2022). There have also been several allegations of sexual violence perpetrated by members of the Taliban since the take-over, especially against women in detention centers (AI, 10 March 2023; IPS, 16 May 2023).

Technological landscape

According to Internet World Stats (IWS 2023 Afghanistan):

- Internet usage: 22.9% of the population survey date: July 2022
- *Facebook usage:* 10.9% of the population survey date: July 2022 (According to <u>Napoleon</u> <u>Cat</u>, as of May 2023 only 17.7% of Facebook users were women).

According to World Bank Afghanistan data:

• *Mobile phone subscriptions*: 57 per 100 people (2021).

According to available data, Afghanistan is one of the few countries in the world where the number of Internet users has decreased or is at least stagnant, but these statistics are not very reliable. Still, it is likely that citizens (converts from Islam in particular) will have more access to online Christian resources (especially resources in Farsi, which is related to the Dari language). As long as intervention from the new Taliban government remains low, this is likely to strengthen the small Christian community, which is often made up of isolated converts. However, Internet access is more available in urban areas, especially Kabul, which alone makes up more than half of the country's urbanization. With the Taliban taking over control of the country, it is likely that such access will become increasingly difficult and risky.

Due to country instability, Afghanistan was not listed in the Freedom House's Freedom on the Net 2023 report. However, in November 2017, VOA News reported that the authorities had at times <u>blocked social media services</u> temporarily to prevent insurgency groups using WhatsApp,

Telegram, Twitter and Facebook to spread propaganda. Independent media reporting has become much more <u>difficult and dangerous</u> with the government take-over by the Taliban (AAN, 7 March 2022). Not only is the Taliban putting pressure on reporters and published content (leading not least to self-censorship), but the dire economic situation has also caused numerous independent media outlets to go out of business.

As Afghanistan Analysts Network showed in a series of reports, <u>access to telecom services</u> (AAN, 13 June 2019) was limited particularly by Taliban control. The Taliban also enforced <u>cellphone</u> <u>checks</u> in the regions they controlled (prior to the August 2021 take-over) in order to make people follow their strict rules (Gandhara, 30 October 2020). This applied predominantly to rural areas; it should be noted that the World Bank claims that the <u>urbanization rate</u> of Afghanistan is the highest in South Asia (World Bank Factsheet, accessed 8 January 2022), only topped by smaller countries such as the Maldives and Bhutan. So, the gap between cities and rural areas is growing. Overall, the country's technological development is slow and severely hindered by the dire security situation.

China has become the first country to <u>appoint a new ambassador</u> to take up residence in Kabul since the take-over by the Taliban regime in August 2021 (Reuters, 13 September 2023). China has reportedly been <u>exporting surveillance equipment</u> to Afghanistan. A network of roughly 62,000 cameras has been installed across Kabul, the Taliban Ministry of the Interior said it hopes to expand the network nationwide within the next four years (RFE-RL, 1 September 2023). Such a system can easily be adapted to monitor the general public in many ways. This will likely add an additional layer of pressure on religious minorities in the country, especially those which can only survive by remaining deeply hidden.

Gender perspective

Reflecting the gender gap in relation to technology access, Georgetown reported that Afghanistan scored worst for female cell phone usage out of 170 countries (GIWPS 2021 Afghanistan profile). While this statistic suggests that women may find it more difficult to access digital Christian resources or online Christian communities, there are many reports that women use their time in confinement in their homes to watch TV and surf the Internet, where available.

Security situation

Al-Qaeda and ISKP

While violence has not ceased and violent attacks continue to take place on a frequent basis (especially against minorities and foreign contacts which the Taliban are trying to strengthen), the general level of violence has decreased compared to before August 2021. The UN Assistance Mission in Afghanistan (UNAMA) published a <u>report</u> on the number of civilian casualties caused by improvised explosive devices (IEDs) in the period 15 August 2021-30 May 2023 (27 June 2023). According to the report: IED attacks on places of worship, mostly Shia Muslim sites, accounted for more than one-third of all civilian casualties recorded during the reporting period. In addition to attacks on Shia places of worship, the report said there were at least 345 (95 killed, 250 wounded) casualties as a result of attacks targeting the predominantly Shia Muslim Hazara community in schools and other educational facilities, on crowded streets and on public transportation.

Al-Qaeda remains present and active in the country, even though the Taliban claim otherwise; the Islamic State group has made inroads into the country, boosted by an influx of foreign Sunni militants, many calling themselves "Islamic State of the Khorasan Province" (ISKP), and formed largely out of splinter groups of former Taliban fighters. On 5 September 2022, Islamic State group ISKP conducted the first embassy attack since the Taliban took control in August 2021. The suicide bomb blast targeted <u>the Russian embassy</u> in Kabul, killing two employees (Al-Mayadeen, 5 September 2022), showing that the security situation is less stable than the Taliban would like to admit. ISKP has mainly been targeting <u>religious minorities</u> like the Hazara and other Shiites in an effort to sow further sectarian discord (HRW, 6 September 2022). Afghanistan is also likely to continue serving as a gathering-point for groups from the Taliban, al-Qaeda and other dismantled militia, who opposed the peace negotiations with the USA. The killing of al-Qaeda leader Ayman al-Zawahiri by a US drone strike in the early hours of 31 July 2022 in central Kabul left the Taliban in an awkward position due to their claim that al-Qaeda was not present in the country (BBC News, 2 August 2022).

China

China is running a military base in Tajikistan on the border to Afghanistan (RFE/RL, 14 October 2021) and is building a second one. ISKP fired <u>rockets</u> across the border to neighboring Tajikistan and Uzbekistan in April and May 2022, showing that the Taliban is not completely in control and is struggling to keep its promise that no attacks on other countries would be made from Afghan territory (Gandhara, 11 May 2022). While in November 2022, a more general sweep against "<u>Chinese imperialism</u>" in Afghanistan and elsewhere had been noted (Jamestown Foundation, 18 November 2022), a successful ISKP-attack against a hotel in Kabul in December 2022 triggered a wave of anti-Chinese jihadist propaganda in January 2023 (Jamestown Foundation, 6 January 2023).

Pakistan

The relationship with neighboring Pakistan has become more strained as well. While the Pakistani government was quick in praising the Taliban take-over of Afghanistan, it is coming to realize that the relationship with its neighbor's new rulers will pose serious challenges. Radical Islamic groups in Pakistan (such as the TTP) have been emboldened by this victory and one TTP emir even said that his organization is a branch of the Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan (Long War Journal, 15 December 2021). While this statement by the TTP emir may be an outlier, it shows how close the ties between Afghan and Pakistani Taliban are, illustrated especially by, but not limited to, the Haqqani network. Another sign that being neighbors with an Afghanistan ruled by Taliban is not smooth sailing were the border clashes along the Durand line, which Pakistan has been fencing off (Dawn, 3 January 2022). Taliban leader Hibatullah Akhundzada keeps on protecting the TTP in Pakistan, despite the fact that many of the Taliban involved in day-to-day politics in Kabul would prefer a policy limiting the TTP's violent operations (USIP, 14 February 2023). The probably strongest sign of Pakistan's strained relationship with the Taliban was the start of repatriating up to 1.7 million undocumented Afghan refugees to Afghanistan at the end of 2023, although many were born in Pakistan.

Iran

Another neighbor where relationships are increasingly strained is Iran. Al-Jazeera reported on 30 May 2023 that <u>border clashes</u> between Afghanistan and Iran took place, in which one Afghan and two Iranian troops were killed. The clashes are connected with a dispute over a 1973 water-sharing agreement concerning the Helmand river. Iran claims that it is not receiving its agreed amount of water and that there has been no improvement since the Taliban took over in 2021. Relations with Afghanistan had already been tense due to the fact that the Shiite Hazara minority is being frequently targeted for attack both by the <u>Taliban</u> (Amnesty International, 15 September 2022) and the <u>Islamic State group</u> (HRW, 6 September 2022), and Iran is predominantly Shia. Like Pakistan, Iran has also started repatriating thousands of unofficial Afghan refugees.

National Resistance Front

The National Resistance Front poses a challenge as well (Foreign Affairs, 19 August 2022), although the claim that it is actively fighting in 12 provinces may be something of an exaggeration, especially as it is not supported by any outside force and no organized armed opposition force is seen in Afghanistan. If reports that TTP fighters - and thus Pashtuns - are relocated to the North (MEMRI, 21 June 2023) turn out to be true and this develops into a systematic policy, it is possible this will be a rallying cry for the ethnic minorities of Tajik and Uzbek, concentrated in the North. If this emerges into an open and armed resistance remains to be seen. After the IS suicide attack on a Hazara Shiite mosque in northern Kunduz which killed at least 46 in October 2021 (AP News, 8 October 2021), the Taliban were quick to promise Hazaras that they would be protected like all other Afghan citizens. However, with each successful IS-attack, trust in the Taliban's ability and/or willingness is being put to the test.

Gender perspective

Against the backdrop of decades-long conflict and instability, life has always been immensely challenging for Christians. In rural locations, the social control is much higher, not just by families, but also by society at large. Following on from the Taliban take-over in August 2021, the security of both Christian men and women has become increasingly fragile, causing many to flee the country. In an increasingly Islamic context however, the rights of women and minorities are a primary point of concern. Afghan women took to the streets to protest new policies in September 2021 and to demand equal rights, although were violently beaten (HRW, 20 October 2022). Christian girls reportedly fear being abducted, forcefully converted to Islam and forcibly married (Forbes, 8 May 2020) while men and boys' risk being forcibly recruited into the new army as in earlier years (US Department of State, 2022 Trafficking in Persons Report: Afghanistan).

Trends analysis

1) Security situation is affecting international contacts

Since the Taliban's swift take-over of power, the ISKP has been contesting the Taliban fiercely but even though it is more of a challenge than the Taliban would like to admit, it is unlikely to affect Taliban rule in general. However, every rocket attack on neighboring countries breaks the Taliban's promise in the 2020 withdrawal agreement stating that no terrorist attacks would be carried out on other countries from Afghan territory. These rocket attacks not only add to the security worries faced by Afghanistan's weary neighbors, they are also an embarrassing proof that the Taliban does not have the security situation under control. This is also the case for every attack on ethnic and religious minorities by ISKP (Gandhara, 5 May 2022). Diplomats from the Saudi embassy in Kabul <u>started leaving</u> the country to work from neighboring Pakistan in February 2023 (Reuters, 6 February 2023). And although the Saudi diplomats officially left for unspecified training and were allegedly supposed to return, this illustrates how successful the Islamic State group's (ISKP) tactic of targeting embassies and politicians has been, leading to further isolation of the already embattled Taliban regime.

The news of Saudi Arabia's move to Pakistan immediately sparked fears of a further exodus, as rumors circled of <u>further embassies</u> closing, for instance, those of the United Arab Emirates and Qatar (Dawn, 8 February 2023). As of 31 January 2023, only <u>13 countries</u> had kept an embassy open in Kabul. In an effort to overcome Afghanistan's forced isolation, the Prime Minister of Qatar <u>met with</u> Taliban Emir Akhundzada in Kandahar on 12 May 2023, in what has been the first known visit of a foreign leader (Reuters, 31 May 2023). The fact that, towards the end of 2023, Pakistan <u>openly accused</u> the Taliban leadership of supporting the TTP and of thus jeopardizing the security situation of its neighbor is an apparent U-turn from its former close support of the Taliban. This may well have serious consequences in the future (USIP, 16 November 2023)

2) Ruling Afghanistan may pose a challenge for Taliban's unity

It needs to be kept in mind that the Taliban are by no means a uniform and unified organization; some members may indeed be more interested and even focused on governing, while others may be focusing on the continued fighting or in spreading the jihadi success formula into other regions. Any Taliban-government measures not seen as Islamic enough may swell the numbers of disgruntled defectors joining the ISKP. The fact that a deputy foreign minister could publicly criticize the Taliban leadership (see above: Political and legal landscape) is highly unusual and points to the challenges the Taliban are facing. In a rare public outburst, Taliban Minister of the Interior Sirajuddin Haqqani criticized Afghanistan's leadership for "monopolizing" power (VOA, 13 February 2023). At a religious gathering in his home province, Khost, he said: 'Our views and thoughts have dominated us to such an extent that power monopolization and defamation of the entire [ruling] system have become common", adding that the Taliban should not adopt policies that drive a wedge between "the [ruling] system and the people, allowing others to exploit it to defame Islam." Haqqani did not explicitly mention any names in his criticism, but he is known for opposing any ban on education for girls. Other high-ranking politicians were like-

wise <u>reported</u> to be cautiously criticizing the leadership (The Diplomat, 16 February 2023). This trend deserves to be observed closely, especially as the challenge by ISKP is still strong.

An in-depth report by AAN underlines the challenging mix of factors which the Taliban are having to deal with: These include the differing interpretations of Islamic teachings, the frustrations being aired about the implementation of rules, and the changed situation in Afghanistan in comparison to 1996 (AAN, 15 June 2022). Additionally, it is no small task to rule a whole country and it is important to see how different Afghanistan has become compared to twenty years ago. To give just one example, when the Taliban first ruled in Kabul in 1996, the city had around 500,000 inhabitants; it now has 4.5 - 5 million. In Kabul itself, it is very likely that many within the Taliban feel they have bitten off more than they can chew. The challenge of managing a 400,000 administrative staff apparatus taken over from the republican era is daunting.

While no one can predict what is going to happen, the situation is far from stable. Families, clans and society in general will increasingly look for stability within their own groups, which is likely to increase the pressure on Christian converts to conform with Islamic religious duties and keep their faith hidden, unnoticed by anyone. Additionally, it is possible that the influx of Pakistani Taliban in the North (see "Security situation" above), will provoke more unrest from the ethnic minorities living there.

3) The economic and social situation is deteriorating

Besides the security situation, the socio-economic outlook adds to the impetus for emigration. Tens of thousands of mainly young men have left Afghanistan in order to look for work in Pakistan, Iran, Turkey and other countries. With the withdrawal of international troops, a whole service industry catering for foreign troops stationed in the country has lost its livelihood (Gandhara, 1 May 2021). The numbers referred to above (in: Social and cultural landscape) as well as the strict implementation of a drug ban (so far) will add to the economic and social pressure and may give additional reasons for migrating. A United Nations meeting of donors and regional countries in Qatar at the beginning of May 2023, reiterated that recognition of the Taliban as Afghanistan's official government is still a long way off (Afghan Analysts Network, 5 May 2023) and international donors are less than excited to give, even though the dire need is evident. More than 50% of the population is younger than 20 years old and the high population growth (combined with the return of refugees and migrant workers) only exacerbates the problem. Unemployment, poverty and inflation rates remain very high. Due to a lack of future perspectives, many young people get involved in drug-trafficking (although this may become less of an option in the future) or join militant groups. The many thousands of Afghan refugees being pushed back from neighboring countries will complicate the situation. Christians are affected by these challenges as well.

4) Improving the life of the Afghan people does not seem to be a main priority

The Taliban seem to be most interested in implementing their vision of a truly Islamic society. They are making progress with their <u>religious policing</u>, limiting the visibility of women in public, enforcing dress and hairstyle codes and forcing imams to hold rollcalls for the attendance of the obligatory prayers at mosques (Gandhara, 6 January 2022). The to-and-fro on admitting girls to attend secondary school has already been mentioned above. The Taliban are holding firmly to

their vision of 'true Islamic governance', as outlined in a comprehensive <u>report</u> by the US Institute of Peace entitled 'Afghan Taliban views on legitimate Islamic governance – Certainties, Ambiguities and areas for Compromise', published on 28 February 2022. At the same time, the Taliban did not lose time and started <u>collecting taxes</u> immediately after they took over the government (AAN, 28 September 2022). The <u>governing model</u> of Iran seems to be the preferred model with Mullah Hasan Akhund, chief of the Taliban's leadership council 'Rehbari Shura', leading the government, while Taliban leader Hibatullah Akhundzada is to provide spiritual guidance (Reuters, 8 September 2021). The new interior minister, Sirajuddin Haqqani, is the son of the founder of the Haqqani network, which is classified as a terrorist group by the USA. Some observers see a déjà-vu of the 1990s or even something worse. Rules which even block families from enjoying a <u>stroll in the park together</u> by banning women from parks altogether show how strong the morality police has already become (Reuters, 11 November 2022). Such rules may even provide the seed for a new generation of Afghan people taking up arms. They definitely show that in such a Taliban-ruled Afghanistan there is little to no room for religious minorities.

Another development points to this fact as well: As religious education is a high priority for the Taliban, and they also announced that they would be <u>building new madrassas</u> in each province of Afghanistan (Gandhara, 25 June 2022). Given that the very name of the Taliban means "students (from a madrassa)", it seems likely that these schools are intended for indoctrination and recruitment. All these policies continue to be implemented and by issuing the decrees on limiting women's work with NGOs, the Taliban made clear that they are not interested in compromising for the sake of improving people's lives. The Taliban's <u>perception of humanitarian aid</u> further complicates the task of NGOs trying to bring much-needed supplies and services to the most vulnerable in Afghan society (Afghan Analysts Network, 29 July 2023). Apart from wishing to crack-down on corruption, the suspicion that aid distribution could be used to spread Christianity (or any other religion) plays a prominent role in the Taliban's determination to control and vet all aid programs (AAN, pages 12-13).

5) Neighboring countries and regional powers wield significant influence

Much of the population longs for peace, is fed-up with the violence and simply does not trust groups like the Taliban or IS. With the new political situation, it becomes visible once again how Afghanistan is a field of interest for its immediate neighbors Pakistan and Iran, and also for regional and world powers like Russia and China. The attacks against Tajikistan and Uzbekistan mentioned above (see: Security situation) are a reminder that Afghanistan is home to large ethnic minorities and remains a tinderbox for a potentially widening conflict.

Tajikistan has been the only Central Asian country openly opposing Taliban rule. Pakistan, which is home to a large part of the Taliban leadership, seems to be preparing itself for the changes by closing off its 2670-kilometer-long border with Afghanistan. A border-fence is under construction which cuts off many families with ties on both sides of the border and traders doing business on both sides (Gandhara, 5 February 2021). This will hardly keep militants from seeping into the country and has grave social consequences for the communities. It also has consequences for the small Christian community in Afghanistan which will become even more isolated. Border clashes along the border, called the "Durand line", show the level of discontent and are another potential source for widening conflict (Dawn, 3 January 2022). After the devas-

tating earthquake in Herat, the Taliban accepted help offered from neighboring countries, but rejected an offer from Pakistan.

China shares a short border with Afghanistan and is wary of any potential Muslim insurgents; it clearly has interests in the country. However, China undoubtedly knows Afghanistan's infamous reputation as being the "graveyard of empires", so it will no doubt be careful not to get drawn into involvement in the security situation (The Interpreter, 30 July 2021).The 12 December 2022 attack against a hotel which was popular with Chinese nationals not only forms part of a series of embarrassing attacks against foreign targets in central Kabul, countering any Taliban claims that ISKP does not pose a threat, it also led the Chinese Foreign Ministry to recommend its citizens and organizations to leave the country (Reuters, 13 December 2022). This came as a blow for the Taliban in its effort to bring stability to the country, especially since China was seen as being a potential investor and anchor for stability in the country, at a time when Western countries have been holding back from engagement with the Taliban government. All in all, the Taliban is having to cope with a complex network of international and regional geopolitics, leading one research report quip "You cannot choose your <u>neighbors</u>" (USIP, 1 September 2022). Christians will be extra vulnerable in these insecure times and try to remain undiscovered as best they can.

External Links - Keys to understanding

- Recent history: prediction https://opendoorsanalytical.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/Afghanistan-Full-Country-Dossier-January-2022.pdf
- Recent history: signed https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/feb/29/us-taliban-sign-peace-agreementafghanistan-war
- Recent history: announcement https://www.cbsnews.com/news/biden-afghanistan-troop-withdrawal-livestream-2021-04-14/
- Recent history: Pakistan https://www.gg2.net/afghans-deported-by-pakistan-at-risk/
- Recent history: Iran https://pajhwok.com/2024/01/03/iran-deports-520000-afghan-refugees-in-ninemonths/
- Political and legal landscape: whole of Afghanistan https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-58459130
- Political and legal landscape: collective punishment https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2023/06/afghanistan-talibans-cruel-attacks-in-panjshir-provinceamount-to-war-crime-of-collective-punishment-new-report/
- Political and legal landscape: surprises https://www.crisisgroup.org/asia/south-asia/afghanistan/who-willrun-taliban-government
- Political and legal landscape: government line-up https://www.afghanistananalysts.org/en/reports/political-landscape/the-talebans-caretaker-cabinet-and-other-senior-appointments/
- Political and legal landscape: re-introduction of harsh Sharia punishments https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-63624400
- Political and legal landscape: appointed https://www.rferl.org/a/azadi-briefing-siddique-taliban-primeminister/32418948.html
- Political and legal landscape: highest authority of the Taliban https://www.afghanistananalysts.org/en/reports/rights-freedom/the-ban-on-older-girls-education-taleban-conservatives-ascendantand-a-leadership-in-disarray%ef%bf%bc/
- Political and legal landscape: suspend their programs https://edition.cnn.com/2022/12/25/asia/afghanistanngos-suspend-programs-taliban-work-ban-intl/index.html
- Political and legal landscape: employing women https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-65184767
- Political and legal landscape: criticized https://www.voanews.com/a/top-taliban-official-s-public-criticismreignites-internal-rift-speculations-/6961488.html

- Political and legal landscape: active in all provinces https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/un-envoysays-islamic-state-now-appears-present-all-afghan-provinces-2021-11-17/
- Political and legal landscape: organized resistance https://jamestown.org/program/brief-national-resistance-front-nrf-fails-to-foment-unrest-against-the-taliban/
- Political and legal landscape: denied outright that Christians exist https://www.voanews.com/a/taliban-sayno-christians-live-in-afghanistan-us-groups-concerned/6575680.html
- Political and legal landscape: Women, Peace and Security Index 2019/20 https://giwps.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/WPS-Index-2019-20-Report.pdf
- Political and legal landscape: publicly stated https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/8/17/transcript-oftalibans-first-press-conference-in-kabul
- Political and legal landscape: 75km https://www.ohchr.org/en/press-releases/2023/03/afghanistan-unexperts-say-20-years-progress-women-and-girls-rights-erased
- Political and legal landscape: HRW 2022, country chapter Afghanistan https://www.hrw.org/worldreport/2022/country-chapters/afghanistan#49dda6
- Political and legal landscape: timeline https://www.usip.org/tracking-talibans-mistreatment-women
- Political and legal landscape: UNICEF statement, 12 November 2021 https://www.unicef.org/pressreleases/girls-increasingly-risk-child-marriage-afghanistan
- Political and legal landscape: World Vision, August 2022 https://www.nzherald.co.nz/world/afghan-parentssell-daughter-to-feed-family-in-famine-says-world-vision/LW763KQ7BZDWJUOPDDQUANN5T4/
- Religious landscape description: El Pais, 8 March 2023 https://english.elpais.com/international/2023-03-08/un-afghanistan-is-worlds-most-repressive-country-for-women.html#?rel=mas
- Religious landscape description: EUAA, January 2023, p.75 https://euaa.europa.eu/sites/default/files/publications/2023-01/2023_Country_Guidance_Afghanistan_EN.pdf
- Economic landscape: Economic Monitor https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documentsreports/documentdetail/099051823102061044/p17861105b651f0580a3750a0eda1073b18
- Economic landscape: development https://www.axios.com/2023/05/09/afghanistan-joins-chinasinfrastructure-plan-as-beijing-pushes-interests
- Economic landscape: signed https://www.bbc.com/news/business-64183083
- Economic landscape: governing the TAPI pipeline https://www.nbr.org/publication/the-governance-of-thetapi-pipeline-political-social-and-environmental-challenges/
- Economic landscape: 48% of the current government budget https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2020/05/20200528-Rentier-1.pdf
- Economic landscape: fall by 30% https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/afghanistans-economiccollapse-could-prompt-refugee-crisis-imf-2021-10-19/
- Economic landscape: collapsed economy https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economydevelopment-environment/food-aid-in-a-collapsed-economy-relief-tensions-and-allegations/
- Economic landscape: rethinking its policy https://www.lowyinstitute.org/the-interpreter/urgenthumanitarian-need-get-diplomats-back-afghanistan
- Economic landscape: ban https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economy-developmentenvironment/the-new-talebans-opium-ban-the-same-political-strategy-20-years-on/
- Economic landscape: grew by 32% https://www.unodc.org/documents/cropmonitoring/Afghanistan/Opium cultivation Afghanistan 2022.pdf
- Economic landscape: openly sold https://www.rferl.org/a/azadi-briefing-taliban-opium-sold-openly-despiteban/32553913.html
- Economic landscape: update https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economy-developmentenvironment/prosperity-or-penury-the-political-and-economic-fallout-of-the-opium-ban-in-afghanistan/
- Economic landscape: reported in detail https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/publications/ad-hocpublication/emerging-evidence-of-afghanistans-role-as-a-producer-and-supplier-of-ephedrine-andmethamphetamine_en
- Economic landscape: concerned https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-55048147
- Economic landscape: fruit and crops https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economydevelopment-environment/crops-not-watered-fruit-rotting-kandahars-agriculture-hit-by-war-drought-andclosed-customs-gates/

- Economic landscape: global warming and climate change https://www.afghanistananalysts.org/en/reports/economy-development-environment/the-climate-change-crisis-in-afghanistan-thecatastrophe-worsens-what-hope-for-action/
- Economic landscape: devastation https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economy-developmentenvironment/nautres-fury-the-herat-earthquakes-of-2023/
- Economic landscape: exported 1.85 billion USD https://tolonews.com/business-180660
- Economic landscape: preliminary deal https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/9/28/taliban-signspreliminary-deal-with-russia-to-buy-gas-wheat
- Economic landscape: level of welfare http://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economydevelopment-environment/survival-and-stagnation-the-state-of-the-afghan-economy/
- Economic landscape: UNICEF, accessed June 2023 https://www.unicef.org/afghanistan/education
- Economic landscape: BBC News, 27 March 2023 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-65058099
- Economic landscape: policy https://www.savethechildren.net/news/we-need-women-help-women-afghanwomen-cut-aid-following-taliban-ban-female-ngo-workers
- Social and cultural landscape: IOM https://afghanistan.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl1071/files/documents/IOM%20operational%20highlights%20in %20Afghanistan%20and%20neighbouring%20countries.pdf
- Social and cultural landscape: targeted killings https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/07/07/afghanistan-talibanexecute-disappear-alleged-militants
- Social and cultural landscape: without any income https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/rightsfreedom/strangers-in-our-own-country-how-afghan-women-cope-with-life-under-the-islamic-emirate/
- Social and cultural landscape: huge economic and humanitarian costs https://www.usip.org/publications/2023/06/talibans-successful-opium-ban-bad-afghans-and-world
- Social and cultural landscape: UNICEF country report https://www.unicef.org/afghanistan/sites/unicef.org.afghanistan/files/2018-05/afg-report-oocs2018.pdf
- Social and cultural landscape: UNICEF https://www.unicef.org/afghanistan/media/6376/file/Afghanistan%20Humanitarian%20Situation%20Report,% 20January-December%202021.pdf
- Social and cultural landscape: report https://www.usip.org/publications/2020/04/service-delivery-talibaninfluenced-areas-afghanistan
- Social and cultural landscape: forced to leave their jobs https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/afghanwomen-bankers-forced-roles-taliban-takes-control-2021-08-13/
- Social and cultural landscape: Mazar-e-Sharif https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/northernafghanistan-girls-schools-working-despite-ban-elsewhere-2021-10-12/
- Social and cultural landscape: devastating https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/girls-educationraised-talibans-first-national-gathering-since-takeover-2022-06-30/
- Social and cultural landscape: SIGAR https://www.sigar.mil/pdf/audits/SIGAR-19-49-AR.pdf
- Social and cultural landscape: winter https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economydevelopment-environment/the-daily-hustle-how-to-survive-a-winter-in-kabul/
- Social and cultural landscape: The UN Humanitarian overview from January 2023 states that two thirds of the
 population (or 28.3 million people) require urgent humanitarian assistance, which illustrates the size of the
 challenge, exacerbated by the fact that Afghanistan is struggling with donor fatigue and a plethora of other
 crises competing for attention and funds. https://reliefweb.int/report/afghanistan/afghanistanhumanitarian-needs-overview-2023-january-2023
- Social and cultural landscape: selling their girls https://edition.cnn.com/2021/11/01/asia/afghanistan-childmarriage-crisis-taliban-intl-hnk-dst/index.html
- Social and cultural landscape: severe or moderate acute malnutrition https://www.afghanistananalysts.org/en/reports/economy-development-environment/no-food-for-hope-afghanistans-childmalnutrition-dilemma-in-2023/
- Social and cultural landscape: detail https://www.undp.org/afghanistan/publications/afghanistan-socioeconomic-outlook-2023
- Social and cultural landscape: second-class citizens https://www.amnesty.org.au/report-the-talibans-waron-women-the-crime-against-humanity-of-gender-persecution-in-afghanistan/#:~:text=%E2%80%98Secondclass%20citizens%E2%80%99

 Social and cultural landscape: Unherd, 27 May 2022 - https://unherd.com/2022/05/the-talibans-chaotic-waron-

women/?tl_inbound=1&tl_groups%5b0%5d=18743&tl_period_type=3&mc_cid=26c53acb82&a mp;mc_eid=a2e2485d4a

- Social and cultural landscape: AAN, 20 July 2022 https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/rightsfreedom/arbitrary-power-and-a-loss-of-fundamental-freedoms-a-look-at-unamas-first-major-human-rightsreport-since-the-taleban-takeover/
- Social and cultural landscape: allegations https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2023/03/afghanistanalleged-rape-by-taliban-members-must-be-investigated-and-prosecuted-immediately/
- Social and cultural landscape: IPS, 16 May 2023 https://www.ipsnews.net/2023/05/taliban-reign-terrorflogging-rape-torture-instils-fearafghans/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=taliban-reign-terror-flogging-rape-
- torture-instils-fear-afghans
 Technological landscape: Napoleon Cat https://napoleoncat.com/stats/facebook-users-in-afghanistan/2023/05/
- Technological landscape: blocked social media services https://www.voanews.com/silicon-valleytechnology/afghanistan-blocks-social-media-services
- Technological landscape: difficult and dangerous https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/rightsfreedom/regime-change-economic-decline-and-no-legal-protection-what-has-happened-to-the-afghan-media/
- Technological landscape: access to telecom services https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/one-land-tworules-7-delivering-public-services-in-insurgency-affected-andar-district-in-ghazni-province/
- Technological landscape: cellphone checks https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/taliban-mines-afghan-phone-datain-bid-for-control/30919738.html
- Technological landscape: urbanization rate https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/afghanistan/publication/leveraging-urbanization-afghanistan
- Technological landscape: appoint a new ambassador https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/talibansay-chinese-envoy-appointed-kabul-first-ambassadorial-appointment-since-2023-09-13/
- Technological landscape: exporting surveillance equipment https://www.rferl.org/a/azadi-briefing-talibansurveillance-state-afghanistan/32574507.html
- Security situation: report https://unama.unmissions.org/impact-improvised-explosive-devices-civiliansafghanistan
- Security situation: the Russian embassy https://english.almayadeen.net/news/politics/is-k-claimsresponsible-for-terrorist-act-by-russian-embassy
- Security situation: religious minorities https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/09/06/afghanistan-isis-grouptargets-religious-minorities
- Security situation: killing https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-62387167
- Security situation: rockets https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/islamic-state-khorasan-taliban-central-asiaattacks/31844898.html
- Security situation: Chinese imperialism https://jamestown.org/program/iskps-evolving-propaganda-against-chinese-imperialism/
- Security situation: protecting https://www.usip.org/publications/2023/02/pakistan-poised-take-ttp
- Security situation: border clashes https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2023/5/30/what-caused-deadly-afghaniran-border-clashes-what-happens-next
- Security situation: Taliban https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2022/09/afghanistan-taliban-tortureand-execute-hazaras-in-targeted-attack-new-investigation/
- Security situation: Islamic State group https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/09/06/afghanistan-isis-grouptargets-religious-minorities
- Security situation: relocated to the North https://www.memri.org/reports/amid-chinese-diplomatic-pushafghan-taliban-begin-settling-tehreek-e-taliban-pakistan-ttp
- Security situation: HRW, 20 October 2022 https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/10/20/afghanistan-womenprotesters-detail-taliban-abuse
- Security situation: Forbes, 8 May 2020 https://www.forbes.com/sites/ewelinaochab/2020/05/08/yetanother-girl-in-pakistan-abducted-forcibly-converted-and-forcibly-married-to-her-abductor/

- Security situation: US Department of State, 2022 Trafficking in Persons Report: Afghanistan https://www.state.gov/reports/2022-trafficking-in-persons-report/afghanistan/
- Trends analysis: every attack https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/islamic-state-afghanistan-talibansecurity/31836037.html
- Trends analysis: started leaving https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/saudi-diplomats-leaveafghanistan-relocate-pakistani-capital-sources-2023-02-06/
- Trends analysis: further embassies https://www.dawn.com/news/1735959/saudi-exit-from-kabul-sparks-fears-of-exodus
- Trends analysis: 13 countries https://www.embassypages.com/afghanistan
- Trends analysis: met with https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/qatar-prime-minister-taliban-chiefhold-secret-afghan-talks-source-2023-05-31/
- Trends analysis: openly accused https://www.usip.org/publications/2023/11/major-rift-pakistan-ramps-pressure-taliban
- Trends analysis: criticized https://www.voanews.com/a/top-taliban-official-s-public-criticism-reignitesinternal-rift-speculations-/6961488.html
- Trends analysis: reported https://thediplomat.com/2023/02/ruling-taliban-display-rare-division-in-publicover-bans/
- Trends analysis: service industry catering for foreign troops https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/afghanistan-usnato-withdrawal-economic-fallout/31232098.html
- Trends analysis: recognition https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/international-engagement/aban-a-resolution-and-a-meeting-a-look-at-the-may-2023-meeting-in-doha-and-the-reactions-to-it/
- Trends analysis: religious policing https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/afghanistan-taliban-religiouspolicing/31642688.html
- Trends analysis: report https://www.usip.org/publications/2022/02/afghan-taliban-views-legitimate-islamicgovernance
- Trends analysis: collecting taxes https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/special-reports/new-aan-special-report-taxing-the-afghan-nation-what-the-talebans-pursuit-of-domestic-revenues-means-for-citizens-the-economy-and-the-state/
- Trends analysis: governing model https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/talibans-new-afghangovernment-receives-muted-reception-china-japan-2021-09-08/
- Trends analysis: stroll in the park together https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/taliban-ban-womenparks-morality-ministry-says-2022-11-11/
- Trends analysis: building new madrassas https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/taliban-secular-schools-convertedmadrasahs-education/31914672.html
- Trends analysis: perception of humanitarian aid https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/economydevelopment-environment/taleban-perceptions-of-aid-conspiracy-corruption-and-miscommunication/
- Trends analysis: closing off https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/pakistan-fences-durand-line-pashtunsafghanistan/31087794.html
- Trends analysis: Border clashes https://www.dawn.com/news/1667422/pak-afghan-border-fencing-issue-tobe-resolved-diplomatically-says-qureshi
- Trends analysis: graveyard of empires https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/asia_pacific/taliban-chinaafghanistan/2021/07/28/fdfbe024-ef88-11eb-81b2-9b7061a582d8_story.html
- Trends analysis: leave the country https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/five-chinese-nationals-werewounded-kabul-hotel-attack-chinese-foreign-ministry-2022-12-13/
- Trends analysis: neighbors https://www.usip.org/publications/2022/09/you-cant-choose-your-neighborstalibans-testy-regional-relationships

WWL 2024: Church information / Afghanistan

Christian origins

Christianity may have reached Afghanistan by the 2nd century AD. According to traditions passed on by Eusebius of Caesarea (260-339 AD), the apostles Thomas and Bartholomew brought the Christian message to Parthia and Bactria, which includes today's north-western Afghanistan. The congregations which grew up developed into the Nestorian Church and Afghan cities like Herat, Kandahar and Balkh became bishopric seats. In the 13th century a Christian ruler converted to Islam and became Sultan, leading to a decline in the number of followers of Christianity, which was nearly completely extinguished by the reign of Timur in 1405.

In the 17th century, Armenian merchants came to Kabul and in time a small Christian community developed, but this Armenian community was forced to leave the country by 1871. Attempts at building a Protestant church in Kabul came to an end in 1973. Today, Christianity has been pushed underground completely. It is claimed that in the basement of the Italian embassy, there is still a legally recognized church, the only one in the country. But it is not publicly accessible and therefore only serves expatriate Christians.

Church spectrum today

For security reasons no WCD breakdown is shown here. Most Christians are converts from other religions, but no details can be published.

Areas where Christians face most difficulties

- Main areas for Islamic oppression: It is safe to say that the Taliban has consolidated power across the whole country, despite numerous attacks launched by <u>ISKP militants</u> particularly targeting ethnic and religious minorities like the Hazara (The Guardian, 6 September 2022). It should be kept in mind that the whole country is strictly Islamic, so Christians are facing difficulties wherever they are in the country. As a general rule, control and supervision in rural areas is stricter than in most cities.
- *Main areas for Clan oppression:* Family and clan affiliation is strong across the country and even extends into cases where (predominantly) young men migrate to the cities. Filial piety and clan loyalty is expected and given in such cases as well.
- *Main areas for Organized corruption and crime:* Whereas criminal activities and corruption occur countrywide, drug production and distribution are particularly dominant in the south. Depending on the long-term implementation of the ban by the Taliban, this may change. It is however hard to identify a pattern.

Christian communities and how they are affected

Communities of expatriate Christians: Since the WWL 2023 reporting period, it was decided to include expatriate Christians as a separate WWL category again since NGOs have started (re-)staffing their work in Afghanistan. Due to the moderately improved security, expatriates are no longer restricted to highly secured compounds. However, it is impossible for them to mix with Afghan Christians and hence they are still involuntarily isolated. Due to some of the Taliban's

political decisions, e.g., the restrictions on women working in NGOs as well as funding issues, some NGOs have left the country or reduced staff.

Historical Christian communities: These do not exist in Afghanistan.

Converts to Christianity: Different communities of converts exist in Afghanistan. There are those who left as asylum seekers for Western countries and found the Christian faith and then returned to tell others; those who came from the first converts to Christianity in the 20th century - which accounts for a majority of the Christian underground church network; and those who recently converted after being exposed to teaching and evangelism through radio, Internet, satellite TV or word of mouth. All these Christians come from a Muslim background and try their utmost not to be discovered by family, friends, neighbors or the wider community. Depending on the family, they may even have to fear for their lives. For them, living openly as a Christian is simply not possible - even the suspicion of being a Christian can bring severe persecution. This is true under Taliban rule as well.

Non-traditional Christian communities: These do not exist in Afghanistan.

External Links - Church information

 Areas where Christians face most difficulties: ISKP militants - https://www.theguardian.com/globaldevelopment/2022/sep/06/hundreds-of-hazaras-shia-killed-iskp-islamic-state-khorasan-province-talibanpower-human-rights-watch

WWL 2024: Persecution Dynamics / Afghanistan

Reporting period

1 October 2022 - 30 September 2023

Position on the World Watch List

Afghanistan: World Watch List	Points	WWL Rank
WWL 2024	84	10
WWL 2023	84	9
WWL 2022	98	1
WWL 2021	94	2
WWL 2020	93	2

For many years, Christians in Afghanistan endured the same extreme levels of pressure as in North Korea, although by different means and actors. In terms of scoring for the spheres of life, Afghanistan and North Korea did not differ at all, scoring the maximum for each of the five spheres. However, the take-over of the government by the Taliban changed everything, as this meant that many Christians relocated within the country for security reasons or tried to leave the country. As a result, many (if not all) house-churches closed, Christians had to leave behind everything they owned and the violence score in WWL 2022 increased to an unprecedented level of 15 points. For WWL 2024, it remained impossible to obtain concrete evidence of a similar level of violence occurring. As a result, the violence score dropped sharply from 15.0 to 4.6 points. While details are given in the Violence section below, it has to be emphasized here that this does not mean that the country has become safer for Christians. A second change is the return of the expatriate community as a separate category (see explanation in Christian communities above); as some questions across the spheres of life are limited to converts, this has led to a decrease in the score for pressure. Again, this does not mean that the situation for converts has improved in any way.

The overall score for Afghanistan remains extremely high. This does not mean that each and every Christian in the country is being forced to flee (although each and every Christian will hide his or her faith even more carefully with the Taliban in power); it does not mean that church life is not possible at all or that house-churches cannot meet at all. It also does not suggest that the persecution situation cannot get worse again. However, as one country expert put it: "There is no way to speculate on the growth of the church. The usual indices are missing. ... [T]he underground church is maintaining silence."

Persecution engines	5
---------------------	---

Afghanistan: Persecution engines	Abbreviation	Level of influence
Islamic oppression	Ю	Very strong
Religious nationalism	RN	Not at all
Ethno-religious hostility	ERH	Not at all
Clan oppression	со	Very strong
Christian denominational protectionism	CDP	Not at all
Communist and post-Communist oppression	СРСО	Not at all
Secular intolerance	SI	Not at all
Dictatorial paranoia	DPA	Very strong
Organized corruption and crime	OCC	Strong

The scale for the level of influence of Persecution engines in society is: Not at all / Very weak / Weak / Medium / Strong / Very strong. For more information see WWL Methodology.

Islamic oppression (Very strong), blended with Dictatorial paranoia (Very strong)

The Islamic Emirate of Afghanistan neither allows any Afghan citizens to become Christians nor recognizes converts as such. Conversion is seen as apostasy and brings shame on the family and the Islamic community. Therefore, converts hide their new-won faith as far as possible. As one country expert shared, the Islamic ideology of Wahhabi Islam, which comes through links with Saudi Arabia, is widely practiced in the country and it has been used successfully to attack and destroy invaders. With power now in the hands of the Taliban, which is more inclined to radical

Islamic views, all Afghan citizens are facing strict limitations in everyday life inspired by Islamic tenets - and women even more so. Christian converts do not have any space to deviate from the behavior expected from everyone. The extreme violence used by groups related to IS (e.g., Islamic State in the Khorasan Province/ISKP) has translated into a decreasing, but still considerable number of people being killed in attacks or displaced as discussed above under the heading Security situation. IS appears to have begun a "holier than thou"-competition, trying to brand the Taliban as un-Islamic. Although its success seems limited so far, this competition will find religious minorities, including Christians, in the crosshairs.

The Taliban will do whatever it sees necessary to stay in power and keep its own movement unified. Its ideological resolve can be seen in the dedication with which they took hold of the education sector. In what Taliban believes is a 'war of thoughts' (AAN, 6 August 2023), they started by installing Taliban sympathizers to take charge of university leadership. In a second step, university courses were revised in such a way that mandatory religious topics were now streamlined to fit Taliban ideology and extended from 16 to 48 hours per semester. The AAN report recounts how one university lecturer described his meeting with the Taliban and their fixation on radical Islamic theology:

"One official who looked more knowledgeable than the others spoke about the importance
of higher education. He said when God said that the stomach was the source of all diseases,
this was medicine. When God said that we must save resources, this was economics. When
God said that water descended from the sky and would make this or that happen to the
soil, this was engineering. This was their understanding of higher education."

Christians of Afghan nationality are all converts with a Muslim background. If they are discovered, they face discrimination and hostility (including death) at the hands of family, friends and community. Muslim religious leaders will frequently be the instigators and the local authorities can be involved, too. The Taliban will put an even stronger emphasis on frequent mosque attendance, increasing the role of religious leaders. According to a survey published in November 2019 (the latest available data), Afghan people display the <u>highest levels of confidence</u> in their religious leaders and in the media - far ahead of their trust in any politicians. More than 57% of respondents said they would welcome religious leaders being more involved in politics, but some provinces saw percentages of up to 98.5%.

Clan oppression (Very strong), blended with Ethno-religious hostility (Strong)

A country expert stated: "Ethno-religious norms and traditional belief systems are dominant. Society is very traditional and slow to change. Pashtuns in particular have a strong codex, but other tribes also adhere to their traditions." Another country expert added: "The Hazara are considered the most vulnerable as they are all Shia (they are visible due to their facial features which resemble Mongolians)." The Taliban are a Sunni Pashtun movement. The concept of nation is alien to the Afghan way of thinking. One's own family comes first, followed by the clan and then the tribe – and all of these are much more important than the country as a whole, which may have been one underlying reason why the Taliban experienced so little resistance in the take-over. People are deeply entrenched in caring for their families, villages and tribes. If someone dares to turn from his tribe to embrace something new and maybe even foreign, this results in high pressure being exerted to make that person return to traditional norms. If this

does not happen, such a person will be looked upon as a traitor of the community and hence excluded. This applies to all 'deviations' but even more if someone turns to Christianity. The Christian religion is considered to be Western and hostile to Afghan culture, society and Islam, and leaving Islam is seen as treason. This is confirmed by a report on the Taliban's perception of international aid and NGOs (AAN, 29 July 2023), according to which among other points of criticism, suspicion of conversion agendas rank high under ideological motives.

Organized corruption and crime (Strong)

Criminal gangs work hand in glove with many extremist organizations and provide support for revenue streams which involve human trafficking of minorities, murder for hire, theft and intimidation of rivals and informers. Speaking about Afghanistan, one country expert said: "Crime and violent crime has been on the rise and affects those living in less secure urban areas or areas dominated by warlords and drug-lords. For some, this poses a more immediate threat than the wider political conflict." The lack of exportable goods has led to a huge trade imbalance, causing the country to be in constant financial debt. This also affects Christians because they belong to the low-income majority of society. One of the main economic problems Afghanistan faces is that growing illicit drugs such as opium is much more lucrative than virtually any other crop; details can be found in the UN report published in November 2018. The Taliban had been heavily involved in drug production and before taking over the government estimations were that 70-80% of all drug trafficking profit were being channeled into funding Taliban activities. The income from poppy cultivation not only funds armed militant groups, it also fuels corruption. Although the Taliban banned opium production, the crop is still sold openly in the country (see above: Economic landscape) and it remains to be seen if the Taliban will be able to offer farmers viable alternatives.

Afghanistan: Drivers of persecution	ю	RN	ERH	со	CDP	СРСО	SI	DPA	осс
	VERY STRONG		-	VERY STRONG				VERY STRONG	STRONG
Government officials	Very strong		Strong	Very strong				Very strong	Strong
Ethnic group leaders	Very strong		Strong	Very strong				Strong	
Non-Christian religious leaders	Very strong		Strong	Very strong				Very strong	
Violent religious groups	Very strong		Strong	Very strong				Strong	Very strong
Citizens (people from the broader society), including mobs	Weak		Weak	Strong				Medium	

Drivers of persecution

Afghanistan: Drivers of persecution	ю	RN	ERH	со	CDP	СРСО	SI	DPA	occ
	VERY STRONG		-	VERY STRONG				VERY STRON G	STRONG
One's own (extended) family	Very strong		Strong	Strong				Mediu m	
Revolutionaries or paramilitary groups	Strong		Strong	Strong					Very strong
Organized crime cartels or networks	Weak		Weak	Very weak				Mediu m	Strong

The scale for the level of influence of Drivers of persecution in society is: Not at all / Very weak / Weak / Medium / Strong / Very strong. For more information see WWL Methodology.

Drivers of Islamic oppression and Dictatorial paranoia

- Government officials (Very strong): Since Afghanistan as stated in the now obsolete Constitution - is an Islamic state, all other religions are seen as alien to the country and consequently government officials (Taliban and pre-Taliban) are hostile towards all signs of Christianity. The term "government official" increasingly means a member of the Taliban (sometimes even with religious credentials) and the growing power of the revived "Ministry of Virtue and Vice" is already strongly felt across society. The attitude towards Christian converts, if discovered, will not change in that respect. Political parties, which had been a driver up to August 2021, have been ruled out now.
- Ethnic group leaders, Islamic leaders, violent religious groups and revolutionaries or paramilitary groups (Very strong): As explained above, ethnic and religious leaders often hold more power than government officials, and sometimes there is an overlap of the different roles. Ethnic group leaders are the law in many parts of the country, religious leaders are often coopted or volunteer to do a sort of grid management, e.g. by checking who is not attending the mosque frequently. The small, but very violent IS influence, puts additional pressure on the already hidden group of Christians. As one country researcher said: "Although things may have got worse things for Christians facing persecution have not changed that much. It is the access to data by the Taliban which was collected by the former government (identity card databases etc.) that makes this situation particularly dangerous."
- **Families (Very strong):** Although this depends on the family's general ethos, for most families a conversion brings shame, and the family will do much in some cases everything necessary to bring the convert back to Islam and to atone for the shame. With the Taliban in power, the pressure on families to follow 'the right version of Islam' is high and there is little if any tolerance of any kind of deviation (whether real or only perceived).
- Normal citizens (Very strong): What has been said for families can be said about the wider community (neighbors and friends) as well. Control within society is very strong and leaving Islam is seen as a rejection of Afghan culture and society which needs to be stopped - if needed, by mob violence.
Drivers of Clan oppression blended with Ethno-religious hostility

- **Government officials (Very strong):** As Afghanistan is organized first and foremost along ethnic lines, affiliation to an ethnicity and tribe is the highest priority and needs to be protected and defended above all else, not just on the national, but even more so on the provincial and district level.
- **Ethnic group leaders, Islamic leaders and violent religious groups (Very strong):** Ethnicity, often backed by religious affiliation, defines a person's being and consequently, ethnic leaders wield a strong influence over people. The very same dynamics described for *Islamic oppression* are active in this respect a well.
- Normal citizens and (extended) Family (Strong): Everyone leaving his or her given community, for example by changing his or her religion to Christianity, is seen as committing treason and in need of being brought back to the fold. The very same drivers already mentioned under *Islamic oppression* are active here as well, since in Afghan culture, ethnic and religious identity are regarded as being one and the same.

Drivers of Organized corruption and crime

- **Government officials (Strong):** The central government in Afghanistan has always been weak and its officials, especially at the local level, have done everything to capitalize on the (limited) power and authority they hold. So far, the Taliban have appeared unable to break this pattern, despite some effort and strong rhetoric. When Christians are exposed or simply oppose illicit practices, they are in a weak position, and no-one will protect them. They can even become a high value hostage to barter over and be used for striking deals.
- Violent religious groups and revolutionaries or paramilitary groups (Very strong): It is a well-known fact that opium cultivation and trade is particularly intense in the southern province of Kandahar, a Taliban stronghold. The revenue from the drug trade has always been an important source of funds, especially as many other sources have dried up, and anyone seen as endangering this business (or is simply in its way) is driven away by all means necessary.
- **Organized crime cartels or networks (Strong):** The drug-lords of any affiliation will protect their business and transportation routes at all costs. Christians, who are deeply hidden in society anyway, will have no protection against them at all if discovered.

The Persecution pattern

WWL 2024 Persecution Pattern for Afghanistan



The WWL 2024 Persecution pattern for Afghanistan shows:

- The pressure on Christians in Afghanistan is at an extreme level and showed a very slightly higher average (15.9 points) compared to WWL 2023. Christian converts continue to face the fact that they need to comply with all Taliban rules and remain hidden.
- While extreme scores for pressure in the *Family, Private* and *Community spheres* are typical for strictly Islamic countries, the extreme pressure in the *National sphere* and the nearly maximum score in *Church sphere* highlight two things: i) a government relying on strictly interpreted Islamic rules and a basically tribal society; and ii) the impossibility of any visible church being able to function within the country. All promises made to international bodies by the Taliban about making attempts to live up to and implement human rights standards have evaporated.
- The violence score remained at 4.6 points, as there was no concrete evidence to confirm a similar level of violence as in WWL 2022. While details are given in the *Violence section* below, it has to be emphasized here that a lack of concrete evidence does not mean that higher levels were not occurring in reality. The few reports received indicate that the Taliban are more interested in arresting and interrogating suspected Christians (in order to identify networks) than in directly killing them.

Pressure in the 5 spheres of life

In each of the five spheres of life discussed below, four questions have been selected from the WWL 2024 questionnaire for brief commentary and explanation. The selection usually (but not always) reflects the highest scoring elements. In some cases, an additional paragraph per sphere is included to give further information deemed important. (To see how individual questions are scored on a scale of 0-4 points, please see the "WWL Scoring example" in the WWL Methodology, available at: https://opendoorsanalytical.org/world-watch-list-documentation/, password: freedom).

Pressure in Block 1 / Private sphere

Block 1.3: It has been dangerous to privately own or keep Christian materials. (4.00 points)

Any Christian materials will attract attention as it points to the interests of its owner and is therefore carefully avoided. Christians will try to keep as little Christian material in their homes or in their private belongings as possible since there is always the danger of searches. Even the use of material on communication devices or via the Internet (which is not available in all regions) is done with the utmost caution and there are many reports that such material needs to be un-installed and reloaded when going outside or travelling. According to a report, the Taliban already enforced cellphone checks in the regions they controlled before taking over the government of the whole country, in order to make people follow their strict rules (Gandhara-RFE/RL, 30 October 2020). Plans to install a mass surveillance system in Afghan cities increases the danger of showing "deviant behavior", including owning or keeping Christian materials.

Block 1.5: It has been risky for Christians to display Christian images or symbols. (4.00 points)

No one will reveal symbols or any other signs of Christianity in Afghanistan, as this will lead to a public outcry and harsh consequences and directly point to the converts themselves. Even members of the expatriate community will avoid showing any hint of their Christian faith, as it may be interpreted as proselytizing, thus illustrating the levels of pressure experienced. And even anyone just showing interest in any religion other than Islam, runs the risk of being strongly opposed, including being questioned and isolated.

Block 1.8: It has been risky for Christians to speak about their faith with those other than immediate family (extended family, others). (4.00 points)

Converts always have to be very cautious as even the suspicion of having converted can lead to severe consequences such as arrest and the destruction of homes. Families often hide their faith from their own children and have to exercise great caution when speaking with other people about faith-related issues. As they can never know which members of their clan have been recruited by or sympathize with the Taliban, they are intensely cautious about whom they trust in regard to their faith. Even if their names are not passed on to the Taliban, they will face severe consequences from their clan if their faith is known. Social control is high, and it is difficult to hide newly won Christian faith over a long period of time, especially if the convert has children. Additionally, converts are in a catch-22 situation as they do not want to send their children to an Islamic madrassa but cannot speak about Christian faith to their young children either, because that would be too dangerous.

Block 1.1: Conversion has been opposed, forbidden, or punishable, including conversion from one type of Christianity to another. (3.50 points)

Afghanistan is an Islamic nation and any deviation from Islam is forbidden by law and tradition, and conversion is punishable. The Taliban government's position (as well as that of the average Afghan in the street) remains that Afghans cannot be Christian and that it is illegal and impossible to have any other faith than Islam. Converts are dealt with "swiftly and silently", as stated by one country expert, but at this stage of Taliban rule, authorities seem more interested in uncovering networks than in immediately dealing out capital punishment. Since society is tightly knit, social control is high and keeping things private is difficult; as a result, converts run a high risk of being discovered, depending on the circumstances.

Block 1: Additional information

Given the high pressure under which converts in Afghanistan find themselves, it is clear that they also have great difficulties in meeting each other and need to exercise the utmost care when they are listening to Christian radio or programs in the internet, especially as there is very little privacy in Afghan culture. Additionally, as many Christians have relocated inside the country, this adds to the difficulties. Still, these programs enjoy a growing audience. Praying and Bible reading for oneself is only possible when converts are sure they are alone. In May 2021, a small group of Christians decided they wanted to have 'non-Muslim' officially stated on their ID cards; as a consequence, they were hunted down after the information fell into the hands of the Taliban. Biometric data systems in the hands of Taliban authorities are <u>recognized</u> as being a farreaching danger for many Afghan citizens (HRW, 30 March 2022). Due to the extended economic and social crisis and also due to the very restricted environment and insecure future Afghans are facing, many Afghans have become more open and keener to search and talk about the deeper issues of life; however, this does not diminish the overall risk associated with sharing the Christian faith.

Pressure in Block 2 / Family sphere

Block 2.7: Parents have been hindered in raising their children according to their Christian beliefs. (4.00 points)

Even under the previous government (under President Ghani), preserving Islamic teachings and tenets has always been the prerogative. These efforts increased with the Taliban's government take-over. As a country expert stated: "The arrival of the Taliban meant that everyone has to attend the mosque, this will be checked to see if there are people who are just pretending. This puts converts at greater risk." Even if the implementation is patchy and varies per region, it illustrates the problems parents are facing. Parents who teach their children the Christian faith risk exposure. When it is noticed that such children have a different opinion from the majority. or simply speak out carelessly and innocently about their beliefs, the Christian family will need to leave the region for its own safety. Therefore, it is a question of whether parents are willing to take such a risk; if they are, it is then a question of when they deem their children mature enough to understand the consequences.

Block 2.1: Babies and children of Christians have automatically been registered under the state or majority religion. (3.50 points)

In Afghanistan, Islam is the only religion under which citizens can be officially registered; as a result, every Afghan is registered as Muslim. Anything else is unacceptable and unthinkable. As stated above (in *Block 1: Additional information*), the few Christians who tried to opt for "non-Muslim" in their ID cards paid dearly for it.

Block 2.11: Spouses of converts have been put under pressure (successfully or unsuccessfully) by others to divorce. (3.50 points)

As a country expert said: "Converts are fearful of sharing their faith with their spouse as it could get them killed. If a convert shares his faith with his spouse he/she is likely to be thrown out of the family house, the marriage terminated, and possibly he/she is beaten or killed, as converts represent a dishonor to the family." At the very least, there is pressure on spouses to divorce or - as divorce is uncommon - nullify a marriage in the case of a Christian spouse. The strongest pressure is put on any woman whose husbands have accepted the Christian faith. Her parents will try to achieve a divorce and cause great trouble in the family. Converts are sometimes sent to a mental hospital, since families believe that no sane person would ever leave Islam. This reasoning makes it also easier to nullify a marriage.

Block 2.13: Christians have lost their inheritance rights because of their conversion to Christianity or (if a person already was a Christian) other types of Christianity. (3.50 points)

In a culture in which family and clan ties are more valued than anything else, there will be great pressure on a convert to return to their original faith. Those who refuse are likely to lose everything, Losing family inheritance rights or the custody of children are just some of the serious consequences.

Block 2: Additional information

Converts face many more limitations than those listed above. Baptism as the most visible sign of becoming a Christian is considered a crime punishable by death. Baptisms therefore have to be carried out in secret. As most Christians will keep their conversion secret, they will be buried according to Islamic rites. If Afghans are discovered to have become Christians, their children will automatically be taken away and given to adoption by Muslim families. Those children will be harassed in their new family and at school. If a family succeeds in keeping their conversion secret, the children will have no option but to continue attending madrassa classes and are likely to grow up confused about the divergent beliefs if they know about the Christian faith of their parents.

Pressure in Block 3 / Community sphere

Block 3.1: Christians have been harassed, threatened or obstructed in their daily lives for faithrelated reasons (e.g. for not meeting majority religion or traditional dress codes, beard codes etc.). (4.00 points)

With the Taliban take-over, this kind of pressure has grown exponentially. As a country expert explained, there is no other way for Christian converts than to adapt to the rules and "play the role of a Muslim". This includes questions of dress code, but also includes the failure to attend the mosque or indeed to grow a beard. If a Christian woman chooses not to wear a head-covering she will draw unwanted attention and locals will press her into wearing one. In the cities, the planned introduction of a mass surveillance system, which can easily be used to control conformity, will add to this pressure.

Block 3.5: Christians have been put under pressure to take part in non-Christian religious ceremonies or community events. (4.00 points)

Whether an Afghan is known as a Christian (e.g., in a more tolerant family) or unknown, participation in Islamic activities such as Namaz (prayer), mosque visits, fasting, Eid celebrations, funerals, births, weddings, sacrifices etc. is expected by family and society and even mandatory under Taliban rule. Converts are also pressured into attending mosque prayers, especially on Fridays. All this belongs to the need to "play the role of a Muslim", as explained under 3.1.

Block 3.9: Christians have faced disadvantages in their education at any level for faith-related reasons (e.g. restrictions of access to education). (3.50 points)

Christian parents fear sending their children to school because they want to protect them from Islamic indoctrination and from revealing their hidden Christian identity. If they are discovered and are not immediately publicly exposed, the children will be pressured into leaving school without being given the necessary documents to continue school elsewhere. Of course, Christian students have to follow the general curriculum, which puts a strong emphasis on Islam. As a country expert explained: "Madrassas are the main form of education for those living in the rural areas, therefore Christians are limited and severely restricted in gaining an education. In urban areas they have to pretend to be Muslims so that they can access even other schools."

Since the Taliban take-over girls have been refused the possibility of continuing their secondary education and the Taliban has strengthened the madrassa system across the country.

Block 3.13: Christians have been interrogated or compelled to report to the local vigilante/police for faith-related reasons. (3.50 points)

If Christian converts are discovered, they will certainly be taken away for investigation and interrogation. These interrogations are intense, regardless of whether they are carried out by the Taliban, ISKP or any other group. Individual Christians often know very little about church networks in the country, but the interrogators will nevertheless try to find out as much as possible, including house searches and checking cell phones and other devices. If identified, church leaders receive particular attention.

Block 3: Additional information

Any convert discovered will lose access to community resources and healthcare. Communities exercise immense pressure to ensure allegiance and order; consequently, they monitor everyone. Whoever is perceived as deviating from the norm is put under pressure to return to the mainstream religious and political views, be it by physical abuse or by using occult practices (such as forms of witchcraft) which are widespread in Afghanistan.

Pressure in Block 4 / National sphere

Block 4.1: The Constitution (or comparable national or state law) limits freedom of religion as formulated in Article 18 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. (4.00 points)

The Constitution - since August 2021 suspended by the Taliban - guaranteed that adherents of other religions were free to exercise their faith. However, Article 3 of the Constitution, which stated that no law shall contravene the tenets and provisions of Islam, led to restrictions in many areas. Although the wording was flexible and it did not state what may be deemed as inappropriate and against Islam, in practice accusations of conversion were equated with blasphemy and neither Christians nor other religious minorities (including non-Sunni Muslims) enjoyed freedom of religion. Meanwhile, the country is back under the direct rule of Sharia law and it does not look likely that the Taliban plan to implement a new constitution, even though a book on jurisprudence, published by the Taliban's <u>Chief Justice</u>, did acknowledge the need for a constitution (AAN, 3 September 2023).

Block 4.10: Media reporting has been incorrect or biased against Christians. (4.00 points)

As a country expert explained: "The media is afraid to contradict the Taliban line - Christians are not recognized by the media as they do not want to bring attention to any Christian activity, this would be seen as promoting Christianity. Communication against Christians takes place at the grassroots levels, with leaders and militants targeting Christians." In general, Christians are seldom the topic of media reports, but if they are, the reporting is always distorted and stirs up anti-Christian sentiment, e.g., by exaggerating the number of Christians in the country. The voice of independent media from within the country has almost been silenced completely since the Taliban took over power (see above: *Technological landscape*).

Block 4.4: Christians have been hindered in travelling for faith-related reasons. (3.50 points)

In general, travelling has become easier, since many areas of the country have become accessible again and are considerably less dangerous than when the Taliban was fighting to gain power. However, any travel by anyone suspected of being a Christian (or of having interest in or connections with the 'Christian West') is monitored and often hindered if it is suspected that a journey is being conducted for faith-based reasons (e.g., to attend a conference). The Taliban is known for notoriously strict and frequent searches.

Block 4.13: Christians have been accused of blasphemy or insulting the majority religion, either by state authorities or by pressure groups. (3.50 points)

The punishment for blasphemy is not so much a rights issue as it is a societal one; the punishment is carried out swiftly by the local religious authorities, jihadist groups or (since the Taliban take-over) by government officials. In many cases, blasphemy charges are reportedly made for reasons of personal enmity or envy. Even a mere suspicion or allegation can end in immediate death or the individual fleeing.

Block 4: Additional information

Christians are discriminated against when they have to deal with the authorities. Christians have difficulties in running their own businesses and of course face unjust treatment when they have to stand trial. If they have experienced such problems, it is usually (and officially) not because of their faith, but due to other alleged crimes (e.g. due to treason by working with foreign intelligence agencies, murder or drug dealing). Even people only suspected of being a Christian are likely to face similar ordeals. Smear campaigns can be run against them, rumors spread, causing people to look more deeply at their lifestyle, asking questions like "Why don't you pray as much as we do?, Why do you shave?, Why don't you attend the mosque regularly? etc.".

Pressure in Block 5 / Church sphere

Block 5.1: Church activities have been monitored, hindered, disturbed, or obstructed. (4.00 points)

There is no publicly accessible church in Afghanistan. The only functioning chapel was reported to be in the basement of the Italian embassy in Kabul and only open for the small number of expatriates still working in the city - mainly diplomatic and military staff, but it is now closed (or to be more precise: it has relocated to Qatar) for the time being. Any form of meeting noted by the Taliban receives high attention, this includes meetings carried out by expatriates as well. Christian groups (no matter how small they are) have to be cautious about how they meet. A country expert states: "Churches are underground and held in secret; people are not able to share their faith openly, sing loudly or meet for communion. Therefore, 'church services' tend to look like a group of people meeting over a meal".

Block 5.11: Pastors or other Christian leaders (or their family members) have been special targets of harassment for faith-related reasons. (4.00 points)

Leaders of Christian groups are not known in public. As one country expert stated, if the radical groups or Muslim society in general knew who was a Christian leader, they would interrogate him in order to seek to destroy the group or a whole network. They might kill the Christian leader afterwards to set an example and intimidate other hidden Christians even further.

Block 5.12: Churches or Christian organizations have been hindered in printing Christian materials or owning printing presses. (4.00 points)

When the Taliban ruled Afghanistan in the 1990s, they became infamous for banning all "objectionable literature", particularly anything deemed as "contrary to Islam". After returning

to power in August 2021, they have imposed <u>11 rules for journalists</u>, which essentially rephrase and re-instate this ban (Reporter without borders, 22 September 2021).

Block 5.4: Churches have been hindered from organizing Christian activities inside their place of worship. (3.75 points)

Afghan converts can only gather in private for teaching and worship with the utmost caution. After the Taliban take-over, many Christians relocated within Afghanistan for security reasons or tried to flee abroad. This made gatherings even more difficult and often impossible. At a somewhat lower level of risk, expatriate Christians are able to meet, if they strictly remain among themselves and the meetings are low-key.

Block 5: Additional information

Christians cannot set up charitable organizations, train their own leaders or apply for registration or permits for building a church. Open work of any kind among youth is not possible. A country expert states: "Youth are very much at risk due to the recruitment of young people to fight in the wars against different factions. We are seeing a new kind of war - which is a war of showing the rest of the country who is more extreme than the other." In this kind of conscription race, everyone working openly with youth will be perceived as a competitor for their hearts and minds. Finally, the Afghan Church is deeply underground and as far as the official view is concerned, non-existent. This means that, unlike the few visible religious minorities in the country. they are not able to speak out against any violations of rights.

Violence

Violence is defined in WWL Methodology as the deprivation of physical freedom or as bodily harm to Christians or damage to their property. It includes severe threats (mental abuse).

Due to security concerns, few details can be published. Incidents continue to be extremely difficult to verify since many Christians have i) gone into hiding; ii) relocated within the country; iii) tried to leave the country; and iv) disposed of their cell phones for security reasons. Another reason for the decrease in the violence score is that despite their extra vulnerability (as convert Christians, often coming from an ethnic minority background) or even triple vulnerability (as women), in many cases, it is not possible to determine whether they were targeted because of their Christian faith or for other reasons, e.g., for having cooperated with the former government, or with Western forces, or NGOs etc. The reports obtained indicate that the Taliban are more interested in arresting and interrogating suspected Christians (in order to identify networks) than in killing them right away. One country expert rightly sees this practice as being particularly "devastating" for the small Christian community in Afghanistan.

In the WWL 2024 reporting period:

• **Christians killed:** Although exact numbers cannot be given for security reasons, some Christians have been killed for their faith. For the reasons stated above, the number has remained low. This does not mean that the situation for Christians has improved in any

way. According to Sharia law, if a convert is not willing to repent, he is punishable with death.

- **Christians attacked:** The Taliban has prioritized the hunting down of anyone who either openly spoke out against them or was aligned with anything the new rulers do not approve of, e.g. being involved with the previous government. Whatever they perceive as a threat to their authority, will be targeted. This naturally includes Christians, who have to be dealt with for religious reasons.
- **Christians detained:** Detention is very violent and it is aimed at investigating and identifying Christian networks. The end-result of a detention is often pre-determined.
- *Churches attacked:* Afghanistan has not had an official church building for almost fifty years. With the Church deeper underground than in the previous WWL reporting periods, they have been less visible for attack. Added to this is the fact, that the Taliban have had other priorities to deal with and have not explicitly been targeting non-Sunni-Muslim citizens. Where Christians experienced violence, it was normally the same as for other Afghans who had worked with the former government and armed forces and was not a faith-related issue. When the Church is deeper underground, incidents may, of course, occur which are not reported. Additionally, the Taliban take-over led to many Christians fleeing and 'taking their church with them'. However, such situations are not considered as a church attacked or closed in WWL methodology (this is not only the case in Afghanistan, but for other countries as well). This is not to say that church life and gatherings are not strongly affected by a life in hiding or on the run.
- **Christian homes attacked:** No matter if converts have been abducted, had to go into hiding within the country or even try to relocate abroad, they lost their homes, most of which were either destroyed or taken over by neighbors or Taliban fighters moving in.
- **Christians raped/forcefully married:** There have been reports of women and girls being taken and married to young Taliban fighters who want 'spoils of war'. However, it could not be confirmed that they have been targeted because of their Christian faith. This does not mean that such cases do not happen.

5 Year trends

The following three charts show the levels of pressure and violence faced by Christians in the country over the last five WWL reporting periods.

Afghanistan: WWL 2020 - WWL 2024	Average pressure over 5 Spheres of life
2024	15.9
2023	15.8
2022	16.7
2021	16.7
2020	16.7

5 Year trends: Average pressure

The chart shows how the average pressure in the period WWL 2020 - WWL 2023 was at maximum level. Due to the constant decrease in the number of expatriate Christians working for NGOs in the country and the very delicate security situation, this category of Christian community had not been included in the scoring since WWL 2018. However, since the number of expatriate Christians is growing again and they are not limited to highly secured compounds anymore, this category has been included again from WWL 2023 onwards. As a result, the average pressure on Christians is no longer at the maximum possible, but is still at an extremely high level.



5 Year trends: Pressure in each sphere of life

In the period WWL 2020 - WWL 2022, the score for pressure in each *sphere of life* consistently reached the maximum level of 16.7 points, as the only category of Christians were converts. Due to the reasons explained above (i.e., the inclusion of the expatriate Christian community as a separate category again), from WWL 2023 onwards, the score for pressure in each *sphere of life* is no longer at the maximum level, but still extreme.





In WWL 2020 and WWL 2021, the violence score was stable within the range of 10.0 points. The peak came in WWL 2022 with the sudden government take-over by the Taliban. From WWL 2023 onwards, it has become more necessary than ever for Christians to stay hidden and follow all Taliban's Islamic rules, as a result, both the number of incidents reported and the score decreased accordingly. In addition, due to security concerns, many converts in the country went 'incommunicado', as any electronic device was clearly seen to be a liability.

Group	Female Pressure Points
Economic	-
Political and Legal	Forced divorce; Forced marriage; Travel bans/restrictions on movement
Security	Violence – death; Violence – physical; Violence – sexual
Social and Cultural	Enforced religious dress code
Technological	-

Gender-specific religious persecution / Female

The swift take-over of Afghanistan by the Taliban in August 2021 effectively stopped the advancement of women's rights, in a country where women have long had a lower social status and been viewed as second class citizens. Women from religious minorities, including Christians, are especially vulnerable. In an early announcement following their take-over, a Taliban statement declared: "Our women are Muslim. They will be happy to be living within our frameworks of Sharia" (Al-Jazeera, 17 August 2021). Since then, the Taliban has faced international condemnation for severely hindering girls' access to education, banning females from accessing secondary education and closing the doors of universities to young women (HRW, 2023; VOA News, 2023). In addition, women and girls are forced out of their jobs, restricted in their ability to move around, and denied rights, amounting to gender persecution so severe it has been named by some as "the Taliban's war on women" (Amnesty International, 26 May 2023).

Female converts also face extreme pressure on a familial and societal level, facilitated in part by the limited role women play in Afghan society and their few rights to social protection. Although conversions usually happen together as a family unit in Afghanistan, when a woman decides to convert to Christianity on her own, she is likely to keep it a secret. If her faith is discovered, she is vulnerable to physical abuse and being put under house arrest. She may also be forcibly married to a Muslim or sold for sexual enslavement. A country expert summarizes that female converts experience harsh penalties, in most cases from their family and sometimes the community: "They would most likely be beaten up or killed (either by their male spouse, their own family or the spouse's family), as turning one's back from Islam is considered a dishonor to the clan. And even if they manage to escape, they will be pursued."

Forced marriages and rape are used as tools for forced (re-)conversion, particularly against women and girls from a Muslim background. A young female Christian convert can be forced to marry a non-Christian (often older) with relative ease. Reflecting the severity of the situation, a country expert reports that some women and girls have died by suicide to avoid such a fate. Due to Afghanistan's honor-shame culture, women are unlikely to report instances of rape or sexual abuse due to both the stigma attached and the lack of legislative justice.

According to a country expert, in the first few weeks after the takeover Christian women and girls were being targeted and abducted in order to be forcibly married to Taliban fighters, with fathers being forced to give up their daughters at gun point. The expert explained that women were perceived as "spoils of war," but there are doubts as to whether this is ongoing. In light of such pressure and violence, female converts choose to keep their faith secret from their families. This means they have fewer opportunities to connect with other believers.

Group	Male Pressure Points
Economic	Economic harassment via business/job/work access
Political and Legal	Imprisonment by government
Security	Abduction; Violence – death; Violence – physical
Social and Cultural	Violence – psychological
Technological	-

Gender-specific religious persecution / Male

The Taliban take-over also increased pressure on Christian men. Church leaders - the majority of whom are men - have been specifically targeted by the Taliban; many have disappeared, others have been beaten, tortured and killed.

As men are at the forefront of public life, male Christians are extremely vulnerable to community and family pressure and violence if their faith is discovered. They will be harassed, socially isolated, beaten or killed. If married, they will likely have their wives and children taken away from them. Given that men and boys have greater freedom of movement, they are additionally vulnerable to kidnapping, sexual violence, or killing, in the streets. A country expert summarizes: "The acts of daily violence on men and boys are now greater as women are not allowed alone on the streets." In light of such pressure, Christian men choose to keep as low a profile as possible, with some choosing low-level positions in the workplace so as not to gain unwanted attention. They are forced to live, work and identify as Muslims. Since men are the economic providers in their household, families rely on them financially. If male converts are killed, female family members are left vulnerable to exploitation and poverty.

There is a tradition of abusing young boys in Afghanistan, as well as girls. According to a country expert, this is "part of a culture of paedophilia in the region; which is linked to attacks on minorities and those weaker than them whom they can abuse." Christian boys, who have no worth on the basis of their faith, are thus vulnerable to this form of exploitation.

Persecution of other religious minorities

The small numbers of Sikh, Hindu and Bahai followers in Afghanistan hardly have more freedom than Christians do, their sole advantage being that they are not perceived as being Western and alien. Other Islamic authorities outside the Taliban fold could offer alternative power centers and <u>approaches to peace</u> (USIP, 7 February 2023) and can thus be targeted for attack as well.

According to US State Department IRFR 2022 Afghanistan:

 "According to UN Special Rapporteur Richard Bennett, the human rights situation in Afghanistan remained deeply concerning, and threats and attacks against Hazara Shia and other Shia Muslims continued, resulting in great loss of civilian life. It was often unclear whether the perpetrators of the threats and violence were members of ISIS-K, local Taliban, or a combination of both. Hazara activists described Taliban repression of Hazaras and the failure of the Taliban to protect them from ISIS-K attacks as part of a trend toward deepened marginalization and the erasure of the Hazara from society." (page 1)

- "Members of all religious minority groups reported fear of persecution by the Taliban. Minority religious group representatives said the Taliban continued to marginalize and repress members of these groups, including by restricting access to worship, civil service positions, and university admissions. According to Hazara community and NGO representatives, Hazaras, who are predominantly Shia Muslims, continued to face repression, widespread discrimination, and marginalization by the Taliban in public service delivery and public sector hiring. Because religious and ethnic identities are often closely linked, it was difficult to categorize many incidents as being solely based on religious identity." (page 2)
- "According to a former parliamentarian who represented the Sikh and Hindu communities, Sikh and Hindus in the country had lost hope for a future in the country. He said the Taliban were aware of security threats against the Sikh minority for a long time but chose not to pay attention to them." (page 13)
- "According to UNAMA, consistent with trends observed in past years, many suicide and other bomb attacks on civilians targeted Shia Muslims, particularly ethnic Hazaras. A July UNAMA report stated that despite an overall, significant reduction in armed violence between mid-August 2021 and mid-June, UNAMA recorded 2,106 civilian casualties (700 killed, 1,406 wounded). Most civilian casualties were attributed to targeted attacks by ISIS-K against ethnic and religious minority communities in their schools and places of worship." (page 13/14)
- "Christians and Ahmadi Muslims said members of their groups continued to worship only in private to avoid societal discrimination and persecution, including harassment from neighbors and coworkers. They also said that following the Taliban takeover in August 2021, relatives and neighbors who were aware of their identities were more likely to treat them harshly or report them to the Taliban, whether out of self-preservation or to curry favor with the Taliban." (page 15)

According to USCIRF 2023 Afghanistan CPC (page 12):

- In 2022, religious freedom conditions in Afghanistan continued to deteriorate, as they have since the Taliban seized control of the country in August 2021. In contrast to its pledges for change and inclusivity upon its seizure of power, the Taliban has since ruled Afghanistan in a deeply repressive and intolerant manner—essentially unchanged from its previous era in power from 1996 to 2001. Its rigorous enforcement on all Afghans of its harsh interpretation of Shari'a violates the freedom of religion or belief of religious minorities; women; members of the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and intersex (LGBTQI+) community; and Afghans with differing interpretations of Islam, such as predominantly Shi'a Muslim members of the ethnic Hazara community."
- "The Taliban also either actively targets, discriminates against, or outright denies the
 existence of many vulnerable religious minorities such as Christians—who the Taliban
 falsely insist do not exist in the country—as well as Ahmadiyya Muslims, Baha'is, and
 nonbelievers. Members of these groups are unable to express their faiths or beliefs openly
 because they face dire consequences, including death, if discovered by the Taliban or [ISKP].

The Taliban reportedly assured the Sikh and Hindu communities of their safety shortly following the group's takeover of Afghanistan in 2021; however, several subsequent incidents of vandalism and violence led many to flee the country in 2021 and 2022, leaving behind fewer than 100 Hindus and Sikhs."

• Consequently, Afghanistan was recommended for being categorized as a "Country of Particular Concern".

Further information:

In addition to the attacks against minorities already mentioned in this dossier, minorities in general face a <u>stark choice</u>: Either they convert to Islam, or leave the country, or face being killed (The Spectator, 9 July 2021).

In 2021, the last known Jew in Afghanistan <u>decided to leave</u> Kabul for Israel, due to an everdeteriorating security situation and increasing hardships in daily life (Gandhara, 29 March 2021). However, statements such as "last" are hard to verify since religious minorities are often wellhidden. AP News reported that the <u>last Jew</u> may have actually been a woman, leaving later in September 2021 (AP News, 29 October 2021). In a <u>factsheet</u> on Afghanistan, USCIRF gave an overview of religious minorities in October 2021.

Future outlook

The outlook for Christians as viewed through the lens of:

Islamic oppression, blended with Dictatorial paranoia and Clan oppression

If the Iranian model is indeed the best Afghanistan can hope for under the Taliban, political rule will most likely be submitted to a council of religious rulers. However, it will be a different system to the Islamic Emirate they ruled from 1996 to 2001, since that was a model which the Taliban have already admitted they could not and would not want to revive. But even then, any system with a layer of dominating theocracy would mean no space for religious minorities (including Christians) – and arguably even less space than they have now. The overall goal of the first two years of Taliban rule is to stay in power and keep the Taliban movement unified. The relationship with neighboring countries may develop into a big challenge in the years to come. The repatriation of thousands of Afghan refugees does not challenge the Taliban's rule, but does affect its efforts to improve the life for the Afghan people and may undermine some of its policies, e.g. the strict opium ban. In any case, it will lead to more volatile and insecure times, putting vulnerable minorities like Christians at a higher risk.

Organized corruption and crime

As long as opium cultivation and trade fill the coffers of powerbrokers and politicians, organized crime will flourish, notwithstanding the Taliban bans. It remains to be seen what happens once the warehouses are emptied. The even larger margins of meth production may multiply the organized crime problem, as it is not bound by growing crops in distinct locations. The same goes for the illicit trade of precious stones, ores and timber. Anyone perceived as obstructing these 'industries' (including Christians) will face violent opposition, starting from simply being pushed away.

External Links - Persecution Dynamics

- Persecution engines description: war of thoughts https://www.afghanistananalysts.org/en/reports/political-landscape/the-emergent-taleban-defined-university-enforcing-a-top-downreorientation-and-unquestioning-obedience-under-a-war-of-thoughts/
- Persecution engines description: highest levels of confidence https://asiafoundation.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/12/2019_Afghan_Survey_Full-Report.pdf
- Persecution engines description: international aid and NGOs https://www.afghanistananalysts.org/en/reports/economy-development-environment/taleban-perceptions-of-aid-conspiracycorruption-and-miscommunication/
- Persecution engines description: UN report https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/a-drop-from-peak-opium-cultivation-the-2018-afghanistan-survey/
- Block 1.3: It has been dangerous to privately own or keep Christian materials. (4.00 points): Gandhara-RFE/RL https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/taliban-mines-afghan-phone-data-in-bid-for-control/30919738.html
- Pressure in Block 1 / Private sphere: recognized https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/03/30/new-evidencebiometric-data-systems-imperil-afghans
- Block 4.1: The Constitution (or comparable national or state law) limits freedom of religion as formulated in Article 18 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. (4.00 points): Chief Justice https://www.afghanistan-analysts.org/en/reports/political-landscape/a-taleban-theory-of-state-a-review-ofthe-chief-justices-book-of-jurisprudence/
- Block 5.12: Churches or Christian organizations have been hindered in printing Christian materials or owning printing presses. (4.00 points): 11 rules for journalists https://rsf.org/en/afghanistan-11-journalism-rules-imposed-taliban-open-way-censorship-and-arbitrary-decisions-rsf
- Gender-specific religious persecution Female description: Al-Jazeera https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2021/8/17/transcript-of-talibans-first-press-conference-in-kabul
- Gender-specific religious persecution Female description: HRW https://www.hrw.org/worldreport/2023/country-chapters/afghanistan#49dda6
- Gender-specific religious persecution Female description: VOA News https://www.voanews.com/a/unexperts-call-perpetration-of-gender-persecution-in-afghanistan-alarming/7081038.html
- Gender-specific religious persecution Female description: Amnesty International https://www.amnesty.org.au/report-the-talibans-war-on-women-the-crime-against-humanity-of-genderpersecution-in-afghanistan/
- Persecution of other religious minorities: approaches to peace https://www.usip.org/blog/2023/02/latestusip-religious-inclusion-afghanistan
- Persecution of other religious minorities: stark choice https://www.spectator.co.uk/article/leave-convert-orperish-the-fate-of-afghanistan-s-minorities
- Persecution of other religious minorities: decided to leave https://gandhara.rferl.org/a/jews-hundus-sikhsexodus-from-afghanistan/31175748.html
- Persecution of other religious minorities: last Jew https://apnews.com/article/afghanistan-lifestyle-canadareligion-middle-east-893baa3e2849b0081882d06d1da07535
- Persecution of other religious minorities: factsheet https://www.uscirf.gov/sites/default/files/2021-10/2021%20China%20Factsheet.pdf

Further useful reports

A selection of in-depth reports and smaller articles are available on the Research & Reports pages of the Open Doors website:

• https://www.opendoors.org/en-US/research-reports/.

As in earlier years, these are also available on the Open Doors Analytical website (password: freedom):

- <u>https://opendoorsanalytical.org/?s=Afghanistan</u>
- <u>https://opendoorsanalytical.org/reports/</u>.